
Joint Meeting of Finance & General
Purposes Committee and Audit & Risk
Management Committee
Wed 24 November 2021, 16:00 - 16:30

Main Hall, Thurso Campus

Agenda

1. Apologies for absence

2. Declarations of Interest

Members are invited to declare an interest either financial or non-financial in any item on the agenda.  Members are reminded
that they may declare an interest at any time during the meeting. 

3. Draft Statutory Year End Accounts

Roddy Ferrier

There is attached report JMFGPARM/1121/03 inviting the Committees to note and review the draft Statutory Year End Accounts
and accompanying information.  

The Committees are invited to agree to recommend to the Board of Management that the annual accounts be approved.  The
Audit and Risk Management Committee members are reminded that the Terms of Reference state that members should pay
particular attention to any changes in accounting policy, major judgmental areas, significant audit adjustments, the going
concern assumption and compliance with accounting standards and the Accounts Direction. 

 3. RMF Cover paper - Statutory 31 July 21.pdf (3 pages)
 3. JM Copy of RMF - Budget Monitoring 31 July 21.pdf (10 pages)
 3. JM - Statutory Accounts 2020- 21 DRAFT version 2 (002).pdf (57 pages)

4. Draft Annual Audit Report

Florentyne Barrett

There is circulated Annual Audit Report for consideration at the Joint Meeting of the Committees.  Florentyne Barrett of EY,
External Auditors, will be present to present the Report.

The Joint Committees are invited to consider the Annual Audit Report.

 3. JM NHC Annual Audit Report 2021- draft to management (003).pdf (38 pages)

5. Next Meeting

The Committees are reminded that immediately following this meeting there will be a meeting of the Finance and General
Purposes Committee, which will be followed immediately by a meeting of the Audit and Risk Management Committee.  All
members may remain in attendance throughout.

16:00 - 16:00
0 min

16:00 - 16:00
0 min

16:00 - 16:00
0 min

16:00 - 16:00
0 min

16:00 - 16:00
0 min
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Finance Committee

Title: Statutory Accounts 31 July 2021

Meeting and date: 24 November 2021 

Author: Roderick M Ferrier, Director of Finance and Audit (Shared) 

Link to Strategic Plan: Yes – monitors operational finance that links to strategic


Resource implications: Yes
If yes, please specify:

 Finance
Risk assessment: Yes If yes, please specify:

Financial: Yes
Operational: Yes
Organisational: Yes

Equality and Diversity 
Issues:

N/A

Status – Confidential / Non 
Confidential

Non-Confidential

Freedom of Information
Can this paper be included 
in “open” business

Yes 

If a paper should not be included within “open” business, please highlight below the reason.

Its disclosure would substantially 
prejudice a programme of research 
(S27)

☐
Its disclosure would substantially 
prejudice the effective conduct of public 
affairs (S30)

☐

Its disclosure would substantially 
prejudice the commercial interests of 
any person or organisation (S33)

☐
Its disclosure would constitute a breach 
of confidence actionable in court (S36) ☐

Its disclosure would constitute a breach 
of the Data Protection Act (S38) ☐

Other (Please give further details)
☐

For how long must the paper be withheld? 
(Express as either the time which needs to pass 
or a condition which needs to be met.)
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Recommendation(s): 
That members note the narrative accompanying the Statutory Accounts to 31 July 2021.

Purpose of report
To provide some review of the Statutory and Management Accounts.

Executive Summary
I am conscious that those on the Audit and Risk Management Committee and the Board of 
Management, who do not attend the Finance and General Purposes Committee, are not privy to the 
explanations that the latter Committee members get regarding the financial position. Here then is a 
summary. It is for information purposes only, and not for endless discussion on points on the 
financials. 

The College’s Adjusted Operating Position was over £614,000 surplus (2019-20 £45,000 surplus) see 
Pages 13-14 on Statutories. When loan capital repayments of £66,000 are accounted for, then this 
means effectively an improvement in liquidity of over £614,000. 

In accompanying information, I have shown how the Management Accounts position ties into the 
Statutory Accounts. There are year-end entries coming from the College’s share in the Highland 
Council’s Superannuation scheme that are included, and which make the Statutory Accounts position 
worse regarding the Deficit before Gains and Other Losses. Also, the Depreciation and Deferred Grants 
Release movement is included. 

 I indicated at the last Finance and General Purposes Committee regarding the better than 
expected position the College was likely to face; especially having to manage the financial year 
with Covid 19. The Draft Outturn I presented to the August Committee showed an improved 
projection from April. This continued into the finalisation process, although the MicroRam 
income was lower than expected, thus reducing the year-end compared to the figures 
presented in August Committee.

 The Scottish Funding Council awarded the college additional monies to assist in a Covid 19 
year:

       £

FE 171,236
HE   60,976

This was spent as follows and UHI advised of these figures:

Refectory Support 129,971
Loss of Commercial Income   83,603
Support Students to complete - staff      8,482
Support Students to complete - consumables   33,860
Staff costs re Furloughed staff   49,816
Increase in Cleaning costs   28,460
Increase in IT costs 155,078

The loss of income/additional costs were higher than the funding above. 

Additional Research funding of £122,468 was received via claims submitted.
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The main change was in MicroRam income. In 2019-20 the College secured over £180,000 
from this as net income. In 2020-21 this fell to a little over £59,000. Some effort at review has 
taken place, but the picture has some complexity as it is over a range of courses, students and 
teaching. 

 Income – 
FE and HE fees outperformed vis a vis budget
Other Grants outperformed budget although some projects were affected eg Leverhulme
Refectory income was badly affected by Covid 19 – essentially Refectories did not run
Apprentice Type income bettered budget but was down on the previous year
Research income held up despite some issues of Covid 19
Commercial Income struggled and some Foundation monies were rolled forward to 2021-22
Rent income held up – most of this is from UHI with its staff being hosted on college premises
Other Income outperformed and there were some shared services within this; Registry and 
Student Support Services to Lews Castle and West Highland; HR Services to Argyll and Lews 
Castle
Shared Services relates to NHC delivering Finance services to Inverness
Furlough income was not budgeted – the scheme was extended

 Expenditure –
Staff costs were reasonably well contained – however credit target was not delivered
Staff travel was well under budget
Building maintenance costs, cleaning costs, and IT were allowed a higher spend; there were 
savings in power usage
Generally, overheads came in well under budget 

 The main adverse movement in the Statutory Accounts relates to Service Charges and Interest 
Charges; there was a favourable Actuarial movement in the College’s share in Highland 
Council’s Superannuation Fund. 

 Student Support funding was over £300,000 underspent compared to funding available. This 
underspend is due to be reimbursed to the Scottish Funding Council.

The overall UHI partnership for Incorporated colleges was projecting an Adjusted Operating Deficit 
prior to 31 March 21. However, it is likely that the partnership will make a surplus. It would have been 
useful to put some surplus to the Arms-Length Foundation. However, given the College’s knock in 
liquidity a couple of years ago, then the addition to bank is welcome.    

Roderick M Ferrier
Director of Finance and Audit
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NORTH HIGHLAND COLLEGE

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 JULY 2021

RECONCILE MANAGEMENT ACCOUNTS TO STATUTORY

£

Management Accounts Surplus 704,923

Depreciation 792,846

Deferred Grant Release 567,321 225,525

479,398

Pension Fund Entries 164,000

968,000

1,132,000

Per Statutory (652,602)
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NORTH HIGHLAND COLLEGE

PERIOD ENDED 31-Jul-21

INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT Estimated Estimated Final

Budget Outturn at Outturn at Outturn at Outturn

31-Jul-21 30-Apr-21 31-Jul-21 31-Jul-21 Variance 31-Jul-20

Resource DEL £ £ £ £ £ £

Income

Scottish Funding Council Grants 5,444,820 5,610,752 5,610,752 5,774,771 164,019 5,255,818

UHI 1,789,747 2,033,530 1,986,751 1,856,497 (130,254) 1,678,395

Tuition Fees 677,000 768,076 798,938 792,712 (6,226) 715,233

Other Grants 497,986 672,658 544,836 593,963 49,127 519,501

Refectory and Training Restaurant 73,100 30 790 790 0 122,344

Apprenticeship Type Income 143,000 143,000 131,784 167,912 36,128 208,129

Research 549,994 495,000 517,458 574,118 56,660 565,743

Commercial 162,085 144,725 155,780 84,870 (70,910) 268,208

Miscellaneous 454,177 744,445 843,259 826,069 (17,190) 659,716

9,791,909 10,612,216 10,590,348 10,671,701 81,353 9,993,086

Expenditure

Staff Costs 7,667,980 7,412,901 7,352,536 7,486,963 (134,427) 7,377,424

Premises 777,952 989,981 957,863 969,339 (11,476) 811,291

Other Operating Costs 1,755,397 1,741,604 1,446,212 1,510,476 (64,264) 1,696,641

10,201,329 10,144,486 9,756,611 9,966,778 (210,167) 9,885,356

Management Accounts (409,420) 467,730 833,737 704,923 (128,814) 107,730

Loan Capital (67,968) (67,968) (67,968) (68,193) (225) (62,509)

Management Accounts after loan capital (477,388) 399,762 765,769 636,730 (129,039) 45,221

Management Accounts (409,420) 467,730 833,737 704,923 (128,814) 107,730

Ring-Fenced Del

Deferred Grant Release 470,000 470,000 470,000 567,321 97,321 452,716

Depreciation 792,846 700,000 700,000 792,846 92,846 677,108

(322,846) (230,000) (230,000) (225,525) 4,475 (224,392)
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Not Included in Resource Monitoring

Revaluation Release 120,000 170,000 170,000 187,888 17,888 203,511

Management Accounts position (612,266) 407,730 773,737 667,286 (106,451) 86,849

NORTH HIGHLAND COLLEGE

PERIOD ENDED 31-Jul-21

INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT

Estimated Estimated Estimated

Income Details Budget Outturn at Outturn at Outturn at Outturn

31-Jul-21 30-Apr-21 31-Jul-21 31-Jul-21 Variance 31-Jul-20

£ £ £ £ £ £

SFC Grants

Recurrent Grant 5,347,333 5,341,979 5,341,979 5,341,979 0 5,218,397

Additional Covid Monies 0 171,286 171,286 171,286 0

Infrastructure and Estates 97,487 97,487 97,487 75,523 (21,964) 37,421

Job Evaluation 185,983 185,983

5,444,820 5,610,752 5,610,752 5,774,771 164,019 5,255,818

UHI

Ram/MicroRam 1,522,024 1,550,824 1,504,983 1,389,505 (115,478) 1,416,212

Additional Covid Monies 0 60,976 60,976 60,976 0

Other Funding 24,000 32,688 27,750 27,750 0 0

Research 243,723 266,574 270,574 255,798 (14,776) 262,183

Additional Research Monies 0 91,852 91,852 91,852 0

Additional Research Monies 0 30,616 30,616 30,616 0

1,789,747 2,033,530 1,986,751 1,856,497 (130,254) 1,678,395

Tuition Fees

3/10 6/108



FE 118,000 118,000 145,620 145,620 0 140,740

HE 769,000 851,676 853,319 845,893 (7,426) 774,694

Less Golf PGA payments (210,000) (201,600) (200,000) (198,800) 1,200 (200,200)

677,000 768,076 798,938 792,712 (6,226) 715,233

Other Grant Funding

ESF 0 0 0 0 0 82,472

Other Grants 497,986 672,658 544,836 593,963 49,127 437,028

497,986 672,658 544,836 593,963 49,127 519,501

Refectory and Training Restaurant

Catering Income 67,500 29 29 29 0 113,209

Vending Machine 0 0 761 761 0 527

Training Restaurant 5,600 0 0 0 0 8,608

73,100 30 790 790 0 122,344

Apprenticeship Type Income

Modern Apprenticeships 97,000 97,000 116,793 136,145 19,352 155,423

Foundation Apprenticeships 46,000 46,000 14,991 31,767 16,776 52,706

Employability Fund Income 0 0 0 0 0 0

School Link 0 0 0 0 0 0

143,000 143,000 131,784 167,912 36,128 208,129

Research

Research 110,000 90,000 117,924 136,262 18,339 69,170

Consultancy 167,777 80,000 74,535 80,474 5,939 118,490

PHD Funding 272,217 325,000 325,000 357,382 32,382 378,083

549,994 495,000 517,458 574,118 56,660 565,743

Commercial

Consultancy 0 9,000 17,750 17,750 0 17,875

Commercial 28,000 1,640 3,945 3,945 0 46,895

Kickstart Income 0 0 0 2,123 2,123 0

Foundation Support 134,085 134,085 134,085 61,052 (73,034) 203,438

162,085 144,725 155,780 84,870 (70,910) 268,208

Miscellaneous 454,177 744,445 843,259 826,069 12,609 659,716

Deferred Grant Release 470,000 470,000 470,000 567,321 97,321 452,716

10,261,909 11,082,216 11,060,348 11,239,022 208,474 10,445,802

4/10 7/108



NORTH HIGHLAND COLLEGE

PERIOD ENDED 31-Jul-21
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INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT

Estimated Estimated Estimated

Budget Outturn at Outturn at Outturn at Outturn

31-Jul-21 30-Apr-21 31-Jul-21 31-Jul-21 Variance 31-Jul-20

Micellaneous £ £ £ £ £ £

Hire of Accommodation 52,035 60,000 77,902 77,902 0 79,608

Childcare Voucher Payroll 6,800 1,400 972 972 0 4,900

Subsidy - Biomass 35,000 30,000 43,167 43,167 0 0

Photocopying Charges 240 0 0 0 0 430

Telephone 0 0 0 0 0 0

Sale of Materials 600 300 360 360 0 519

Sale of Stationery 150 0 0 0 0 154

Sale of Equipment 0 0 7,496 7,496 0 5,200

Hire of Equipment 4,214 5,218 5,218 5,218 0 5,218

Salon Income 4,000 0 0 0 0 12,301

Bank Interest Received 0 0 0 0 0 0

Exam Fee Income 500 2,145 914 914 0 0

Shared Service Income 0 0 0 152,946 152,946 0

Other Income 295,575 523,225 559,768 360,522 (199,246) 375,825

Windfarm Income 30,000 30,000 0 56,336 56,336 31,329

Income Union Admin Charges 75 75 62 62 0 80

Janitors Rental Income 2,988 2,988 2,860 2,860 0 2,860

Support for Learners 22,000 27,500 30,563 30,563 0 28,778

HMRC Furlough Income 0 61,594 84,176 86,750 2,573 112,515

454,177 744,445 813,459 826,069 12,609 659,716
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NORTH HIGHLAND COLLEGE

PERIOD ENDED 31-Jul-21

INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT

Estimated Estimated Estimated

Expenditure Details Budget Outturn at Outturn at Outturn at Outturn

31-Jul-21 30-Apr-21 31-Jul-21 31-Jul-21 Variance 31-Jul-20

£ £ £ £ £ £

Staff Costs

Teaching 4,306,948 3,949,969 3,953,955 3,960,030 (6,074) 4,014,103

Saving (150,000) 0 0 0 0 0

Teaching Support 431,608 429,911 428,125 428,125 0 396,268

Premises 329,238 383,722 376,677 377,025 (348) 355,392

Indirect Costs 1,503,399 1,412,945 1,407,551 1,409,447 (1,896) 1,472,962

Saving/Holiday Pay (77,374) 55,000 55,000 0 55,000 0

Other 16,500 4,120 3,000 3,000 0 4,000

Accrual 0 17,020 13,406 27,036 (13,630) 69,223

Holiday Pay 0 0 0 0 0 0

ERI 1,149,703 1,058,214 1,032,857 1,032,857 0 951,948

7,510,022 7,310,901 7,270,571 7,237,519 33,052 7,263,896

Job Evaluation 0 0 0 185,983 (185,983) 0

7,510,022 7,310,901 7,270,571 7,423,502 (152,931) 7,263,896

Other Staff Costs 142,958 90,000 71,142 52,639 18,504 106,802

Staff Development 15,000 12,000 10,822 10,822 0 6,726

7,667,980 7,412,901 7,352,536 7,486,963 (134,427) 7,377,424

Premises: 

Building Maintenance Costs 93,900 184,044 209,809 209,809 0 171,544

Fixtures and Fittings 42,500 26,500 12,653 12,653 0 28,332

Energy Costs 298,500 298,500 298,500 243,295 55,205 241,939

Rents 120,000 120,000 117,822 117,822 0 112,715

Rates and Water 46,285 46,285 51,248 51,248 0 22,397

Cleaning and Domestic 26,120 60,050 48,666 48,666 0 24,750

Insurance 53,045 46,500 48,704 48,704 0 78,912
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Premises Other Costs 35,329 35,329 26,037 26,037 0 22,998

IT Costs 62,273 172,773 192,591 211,106 (18,515) 107,705

777,952 989,981 1,006,029 969,339 36,690 811,291

Operating Costs

Other Student Costs 262,274 262,274 224,812 226,636 (1,823) 256,378

Equipment/Materials 352,111 315,844 273,499 288,784 (15,286) 257,066

Refectory & Hotel Food supplies 69,180 20,000 14,056 14,056 0 85,598

Telephones & Postages 33,084 33,084 22,586 22,826 (240) 29,533

Transport Costs 83,440 112,000 60,001 59,641 360 66,425

Miscellaneous 84,723 156,159 207,931 207,981 (50) 185,753

Financial Services 49,159 56,000 44,757 70,427 (25,670) 63,830

Other Services 295,608 295,608 172,494 172,494 0 244,293

Exam and Registration 138,300 127,500 94,400 94,400 0 123,261

Discretionery 3,500 3,500 21 21 0 2,639

Student Awards 7,650 45 100 100 0 7,655

Board of Management 6,500 6,500 1,974 1,974 0 1,948

Advertising and Marketing 39,833 39,833 26,718 27,513 (795) 34,350

Hospitality 14,508 3,000 104 104 0 18,791

Bad Debts 7,500 7,500 7,500 1,258 6,242 19,294

HISA Costs 19,662 19,662 17,379 17,379 0 17,379

VAT 215,270 210,000 242,762 232,012 10,750 203,894

Loan Interest 73,095 73,095 73,095 72,870 225 78,554

1,755,397 1,741,604 1,484,189 1,510,476 (26,287) 1,696,641

Central Costs

Depreciation 720,000 700,000 700,000 792,846 (92,846) 677,108

720,000 700,000 700,000 792,846 (92,846) 677,108

Revaluation Release (120,000) (170,000) (170,000) (187,888) 17,888 (203,511)

10,801,329 10,674,486 10,372,753 10,571,736 (198,982) 10,358,953
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NORTH HIGHLAND COLLEGE

PERIOD ENDED 31-Jul-21

INCOME AND EXPENDITURE ACCOUNT

Bursary, Hardship and Childcare & EMA Activities

Estimated

To Date Original Outturn at Outturn

31-Jul-21 Budget 31-Jul-21 Variance 31-Jul-21

FE £ £ £ £ £

Income

Bursary 1,757,347 1,854,397 1,854,397 0 1,757,347

Hardship 0 0 0 0 0

1,757,347 1,854,397 1,854,397 0 1,757,347

Expenditure

VAT 5,527 5,000 5,000 0 5,527

Bursary 1,247,601 1,600,899 1,287,601 (313,298) 1,247,601

Hardship 130,140 177,032 130,140 (46,892) 130,140

Childcare FE 39,569 47,703 39,569 (8,134) 39,569

Childcare HE 15,426 23,763 15,426 (8,337) 15,426

1,438,264 1,854,397 1,477,737 (376,660) 1,438,264

319,083 0 376,660 376,660 319,083

HE

Hardship HE 38,131 23,000 38,131 15,131 38,131

Hardship HE 42,555 23,000 42,555 19,555 42,555

(4,424) 0 (4,424) (4,424) (4,424)
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EMA

Income 60,870 77,880 60,870 (17,010) 60,870

Expenditure 61,320 77,880 61,320 (16,560) 61,320

(450) 0 (450) (450) (450)

314,209 0 371,786 371,786 314,209

Income 1,856,348 1,955,277 1,953,398 (1,879) 1,856,348

Expenditure 1,542,139 1,955,277 1,581,612 (373,665) 1,542,139
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Performance Report 

OVERVIEW
Principal’s Statement

Welcome to our annual report for the academic year 2020/21. The period certainly provided challenges, 
as we managed our business through another year of the pandemic.  

Another year where all our staff and students were innovative in their approach to teaching, learning 
and support services. Teaching and support services were delivered through a blended approach and 
students were again prioritised to ensure practical teaching could take place in safe environments.    

To add to an already difficult year, the UHI partnership suffered a Cyber Incident in March 2021. Many 
other colleges and universities in the UK were also affected during the same 24 months, and this had a 
serious effect, with many of our main IT systems being temporarily unavailable.  Whilst main services 
were restored as efficiently as possible our staff had to move to cloud storage, as opposed to 
maintaining files on network drives, and this caused major disruption to the college for the remainder of 
the academic year.   

The College was pleased to receive approximately £171,000 for FE, £61,000 for HE, and also £122,000 
for Research of additional funds from the Scottish Government to support the impacts of Covid 19.  
Although we were affected in our ability to deliver some of our non SFC income stream we have adapted 
our key commercial courses for online delivery.  We have delivered courses such as ‘Safety Cases’ to 
one of our largest employers wholly online with great success. 

The College is very much focused on continuing to offer and grow opportunities for upskilling and 
reskilling those looking to move into new sectors or retrain in the sector they are in through innovative 
teaching practices.  We are also delighted to note the very positive outcomes in delivering both our 
undergraduate and postgraduate programmes during 2020/21. We enrolled a total of 547 students 
across part and full time undergraduate and postgraduate programmes, generating a total of 383.5 FTE 
undergraduate and 20 FTE postgraduate which was higher than we had predicted for the year. We are 
particularly delighted to see students staying in the Highlands and coming to the Highlands for this level 
of provision.  

COVID 19 however continued to have a significant impact on the College’s ability to achieve FE student 
recruitment targets. This year the college enrolled a total of 2,138 students across part time and full time 
programmes which generated a total of 10,932 credits. Given the helpful position adopted by SFC in 
protecting the core funding allocations to colleges impacted by Covid 19 for 2020/21, the negative 
financial consequence of this outcome for the College has been reduced.   

Within our research portfolio we continue to grow. Through our Environmental Research Institute we 
have formed an exciting partnership with the University of Aberdeen and secured major funding from 
Ørsted, the global leader in offshore wind, for a three year marine based project.  During 2020/21 one 
of our senior research fellows was awarded a professorship for work on peatlands science.

Also 2020/21 saw the completion of a new building on our Dornoch campus – our Centre for Golf for 
the University. The Professional Golf programme as well as the Golf Management programme are 
significant inward attractors for UHI.  We are very grateful to the PGA for their continued support on 
these programmes which bring much needed economic benefits to the East Sutherland area.  

We continue to support our employers across the North Highland area and have been engaged in Easter 
Ross not only supporting care and creative industries but also working with partners on ‘Opportunity 
Cromarty Firth’. This has established an industry led research, skills and innovation group dedicated to 
floating offshore wind and green hydrogen technologies - ‘The Powerhouse’.  
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I am delighted to repeat that North Highland College is very much open for business and will continue 
to support local, regional, national and international opportunities which align to our new strategic plan.  
Over this exceptionally challenging year, I am indebted to the college staff, students, governors and 
stakeholders who have all seen us through the worst and made such a stimulating future possible.

Debbie Murray 
Principal
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Performance Report (contd.)

The North Highland College was established under the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 
1992. The College is a registered charity (Scottish Charity Number SC021215) for the purposes of the 
Charity and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005. 

Under the terms of the Office of National Statistics, reclassification of Scotland’s colleges was 
implemented on 1 April 2014. This means that the college for accounting purposes is now part of the 
Scottish Government’s financial accounts, meaning that funding is provided by the Scottish Government 
according to need, and that colleges’ financial statements are now included as part of the Scottish 
Government’s total budget. The College has its own independent board, but also is a delivery partner 
as part of the University of the Highlands and Islands for Higher Education. As such, it has been allowed 
to keep its financial year-end at 31 July, but reports in terms of financial information to the Scottish 
Government at 31 March. Colleges’ budgets must fall within government spending limits, and Colleges 
may no longer retain annual surpluses. Colleges have been permitted to transfer any income and 
expenditure surpluses they make to foundations, as reserves are no longer allowed to be built up in 
colleges. This assumes the necessary cash is available to transfer. On 1 August 2014, The North 
Highland College was assigned to the University of the Highlands and Islands as Regional Strategic 
Body for the Highlands and Islands area, in terms of the Post 16 Education (Scotland) Act 2013. This 
assignation relates to fundable Further Education provision.     

The Financial Statements cover all activities of the College. The Board has approved a new Strategic 
Plan on 22 September 2021 covering the period 2021-2025. Thus, this report concentrates on delivery 
under the terms of the plan 2018-2021.

Mission Statement 2018-20
The College Mission Statement is: To have a transformational impact on the prospects of the north 
Highland area, its economy, it’s people and its communities.

Strategic Vision. 2018-20
The College Strategic Vision is: North Highland College UHI will be an active and committed academic 
partner of the University of the Highlands and Islands, the United Kingdom’s leading integrated 
university. 

We will be recognised for the quality of our students’ experience and for their achievement. 

Our reputation will be built upon an innovative approach to tertiary learning and teaching and our 
distinctive research and curriculum, enriched by the people, natural environment, culture and heritage 
of the north Highlands. 

Core Values 2018-20
Support, Collaboration, Openness, Respect, Excellence.

Implementation of the NHC Strategic Plan
The College’s current strategic aims are set out under the following headings:-  Curriculum; Services; 
Research; Finances; Staff and Facilities

The main and summarised achievements this past year in terms of delivering against the priorities of 
the College’s Strategic Plan are as follows:

Aim 1 Curriculum 
 To be recognised nationally as an innovative provider of high-quality Tertiary education and 

training. 
Work on some specific areas of curriculum review took place in 2020/21 with some further work on 
securing efficiencies as appropriate. The College continues to work through the UHI partnership which 
is undertaking a major curriculum review.
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Aim 2 Services
 The quality and reputation of our student services will help make us the student destination of 

choice. 
Our student services teams offer fundamental support to students, assisting them from initial enquiry, 
through the stages of course selection, application, enrolment, funding, learning, assessment, 
achievement, certification and finally graduation. There are particular pressures faced by the student 
support team as the College is dealing with a year-on-year increase in the number of students with 
mental health issues and additional support needs. The Scottish Funding Council has recognised this 
problem by making available specific funding for student counselling. The College is reviewing how to 
make best use of resources available to enhance the student journey whilst in parallel seeking to 
achieve efficiencies in delivery of services. 

Also there has been and continues to be challenges of supporting learners in a Covid 19 environment. 
The College’s Site Services team faced a challenging year within a Covid 19 environment to provide a 
safe estate to staff and students. The college complied with recommendations and guidance from the 
Scottish Government. 

Most services were challenged by the Cyber Incident and its effects on IT delivery. This has meant 
challenges for Professional Services, Curriculum delivery, and student experience.

Aim 3 Research
 Our Research will be sustainable, widely recognised and will focus on meeting the key targets 

of the University of the Highlands & Islands. 
The Environmental Research Institute is the research arm of North Highland College. It seeks to 
contribute to UHI’s research portfolio by concentrating on high quality and impactful research in 
contemporary environmental issues. 

Aim 4 Finances
 To improve our financial standing by securing new sources of income, making best use of our 

resources and by managing risk effectively. 
Income drivers were also better than anticipated and although some income was lost due to Covid 19, 
the income held up surprisingly well. The Scottish Funding Council provided additional funding for FE, 
HE and Research. This was spent on supporting lost income from Refectory and Commercial courses; 
increased cleaning costs; and delays in Research projects. The college did furlough some staff, but still 
incurred some residual costs. Some overhead costs came in less than budget.   

The College continues to seek to do all that it can to remain financially sound, including reducing staffing 
mostly through natural wastage. The effects of National Bargaining and job evaluation for Professional 
Staff, and whether inflation pay rises for staff are funded or not by the Scottish Government/SFC, are 
obviously key factors.  

Aim 5 Staff
 To attract, retain and develop a workforce committed to our values and the achievement of our 

mission. 
Given its geographic location and the competition from one or two larger employers in the area in which 
it operates, the College has sometimes found it difficult to compete on pay in order to attract the best 
talent. This applies particularly to Engineering Teaching. The College has had to advertise for some 
suitable applicants using enhanced Market Allowances. The College can offer good holidays and an 
average earnings Pension Scheme that can compensate in some measure regarding pay. Other areas 
which have struggled at times to recruit suitably qualified people is in Finance. 

Aim 6 Facilities
 To provide safe and secure Facilities which will fully support our students and staff in achieving 

their goals. 
The College completed a new home for the UHI Centre for Golf in Burghfield House in the early summer 
of 2021. Covid 19 meant a three - four month delay. This facility has state of the art golf bay and swing 
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analysis technology. 

The College is also reviewing its ventilation systems in order to provide as safe an environment for 
students and staff studying and working with the risk of Covid 19 given funding available. 

New Draft Strategic Plan
The new Draft Strategic Plan covering the period 2021-25 is in the process of being finalised and has 
three main Strategic goals:

Goal 1 Learning and Teaching
We will provide students with outstanding and relevant learning opportunities by:

 Continuing to optimise our curriculum to meet the needs of our students, our communities and 
the businesses in the area we serve

 Collaborating across the UHI partnership to adapt learning and teaching methods to deliver 
successful student outcomes in a changing educational landscape

 Being recognised for student attainment and satisfaction

Measured by: Student enrolments; Student attainment; Student satisfaction; Student progression  

Goal 2 Research
We will develop a vibrant culture of research that is recognised for its regional impact and international 
excellence by:

 Being internationally recognised for our distinctive and innovative environmental science
 Cultivating new areas of inter-disciplinary research relevant to socio-economic and 

environmental challenges in the region and comparable regions around the world
 Engaging in Knowledge Exchange that builds effective partnership with businesses and 

stakeholders across the region and makes a valued contribution to the local economy
 Promoting an institutional culture in which academic staff actively engage in research and 

scholarship that enhances curriculum quality and student attainment

Measured by: REF performance; Research student numbers; Research Knowledge Exchange projects 
and income; New Research subject areas
 
Goal 3 Partnerships
We will further develop our partnerships to maximise our impact on regional development by:

 Working together with our local communities to achieve shared goals and ensure that we 
maximise place-based initiatives

 Actively participate in UHI partnership opportunities to improve the student experience and drive 
efficiencies across all of our services

 Pursue collaborations with new partners world-wide to the benefit of our students and staff 

Measured by: Key community projects; Key strategic partnerships

Principal Risks and Uncertainty
The College has robust risk management processes in place to ensure relevant risks are captured, 
assessed and (where possible) mitigated against. The College maintains a register of strategic risks 
which is reported on at each meeting of the Audit and Risk Management Committee as well as being 
reported to the Board of Management. A review of the Strategic Risk Register was completed by the 
College Board in September 2021. 
The main risks to North Highland College are:-

 Covid 19 and the potential effect on college finances and the delivery of curriculum and student 
   experience.
 Meeting student targets for both FE and HE given the demographics in schools, and the buoyant
   job market.
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 Financial sustainability due to pay inflation for staff and the impact of Job Evaluation for Support
   staff and the financial repercussions following therefrom.  

The College has managed to deliver its business in a Covid environment since March 2020 and would 
anticipate being able to continue doing so.
School demographics may mean a more challenging target for curriculum enrolments. There is greater 
emphasis on part time learners and CPD.
The latter risk has sector-wide significance and has been raised with the SFC at sector-level.

Going Concern 
Despite Covid 19 the college’s income drivers held up, although there was a loss of income re 
Apprenticeships’ funding; ESIF funding due to FE credit delivery being affected and not meeting target; 
Commercial income and Refectory income. However, generally income drivers held up better than 
expected. The College has managed to deliver an Adjusted Operating Surplus of £614,000. This sees 
an improvement in the College’s underlying liquidity. Longer term though, without further additional 
funding to the sector, then the College will struggle. There are efforts to progress merger talks with Lews 
Castle College and West Highland College. This is part of on-going efforts within the UHI partnership to 
become more efficient and resilient. Also see Page 41 for a fuller assessment of going concern.

PERFORMANCE ANALYSIS 

Performance Indicators and Activity Review 
Further education activity amounted to 10,932 credits in 2020/21, compared to 11,928 credits in 
academic year 2019/20. Activity was delivered under the collaborative further education arrangements 
with Argyll College. The Further Education activity target for The North Highland College was 12,558 
(delivered 10,934).  Credits were as follows:

2021
Nos

The North Highland College 10,932

Argyll College
10,932
  5,594

West Highland College 7,074
23,600

West Highland College became an assigned college and fundable body on 1 August 2012, and it’s 
funding now goes directly to it from UHI. Its activity for FE is still reported through The North Highland 
College. Argyll College became an assigned college in 2017/18, and the financial impact of funding 
being paid directly to it by UHI, rather than through North Highland College, was implemented mid-way 
through 2018/19. Its activity for FE is still reported through The North Highland College.

Higher Education activity as measured by full time equivalents (FTE’s) amounted to 384 FTEs compared 
with 359 FTEs in 2019/20. The Higher Education activity target was 371.  Figures exclude international 
and RUK students, postgraduate taught programmes and controlled numbers, e.g. in primary education, 
which are reported separately.

Student Activity Indicators
The trend of College enrolments and student activity is as set out below. Higher education activity is 
reported separately and funded through UHI. The table below discloses Credits for 2016/17 to 2020/21. 
It includes North Highland College and Argyll College. The Higher Education figures relate to North 
Highland College only. 
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Analysis of College Further Education Enrolments 2016/17 to 2020/21

Year 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Mode of attendance Count Count Count Count Count

Full-time 657 629 575 631 601
Part-time 3,652 3,682 5,045 4,507 2,885
Total Enrolments 4,309 4,311 5,620 5,138 3,486

Credits Delivered 19,083 19,724 20,003 19,519 16,528

Further Education remains the core function for North Highland College 

                         
Analysis of College Higher Education Enrolments 2016/17 to 2020/21

Year 2016/17 2017/18 2018/19 2019/20 2020/21

Mode of attendance Count Count Count Count Count
Full-time 243 284 237 228 259
Part-time 357 365 327 315 288
Total enrolments 600 649 564 543 547
Total FTEs 362 423 370 359 384

Current and Future Developments 
The College is a tertiary education provider and makes extensive use of the Scottish Credit and 
Qualification Framework (SCQF) at all levels from 1-12. This ensures that all learners from school age 
to those on post-graduate programmes receive recognition for their education and training, including 
relevant work-based activity. 

Prior to Covid 19, curriculum developments continued and have centred on land-based education, rural 
health care; engineering & construction; creative industries; and support for individuals entering 
education or employment.  This includes the continuation of our partnership with Nigg Skills Academy 
for the delivery of skills-based engineering provision in the Easter Ross area.    We are developing our 
curriculum offering in golf, managed from our Dornoch campus in partnership with the PGA, looking at 
CPD routes to support the PGA 2020 Vision for membership.

The College has now implemented new access level programmes at SCQF Level 4 in both Caithness 
and Easter Ross. These programmes are providing a much needed introduction to college education to 
those furthest from the labour market, as well as providing a progression pathway into higher level 
programmes.   

Significant focus in implementing Developing the Young Workforce: Scotland’s Youth Employment 
Strategy, by working in partnership with schools, employers and the Caithness and Sutherland DYW 
board, continues as we aim to increase the percentage of school pupils achieving vocational 
qualifications.  We will extend the reach of senior phase partnership offering courses at higher education 
level as well as further education.  

Additionally, we will offer additional programmes to support the growing tourism industry in the North 
Highland area, engaging with key stakeholders at Visit Scotland, North Highland Initiative and NC 500 
to ensure our delivery is focused and current. Also, we continue to review and amend our apprenticeship 
offering to meet the needs of businesses across the North Highland area.
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Caithness and North Sutherland Regeneration Partnership, of which the College is a member, provides 
a co-ordinated platform to support inward investment to the area. The major growth in offshore wind 
developments around the region’s coastline will continue as a result of the current ScotWind leasing 
round, totalling 10GW of Offshore Wind capacity.  This growth will continue to create new employment 
opportunities across the full supply chain; and it provides transferable employment opportunities for 
those transitioning from the Nuclear power and Oil & Gas industries.  

The decommissioning of Dounreay is expected to be completed by approx. 2036 and therefore the site 
will incur a major reduction in the employment it provides. It currently has around 1,200 staff (plus 800 
contractors) on site and plans to reduce to 200 over the next 10 years (source: NDA). The under-
representation of 18-35 year olds is expected to increase. It is important that attractive and sustained 
employment opportunities are created to encourage them to remain in the area and to encourage 
immigration. It is imperative to establish a knowledge based economy as competition increases from 
both within the European Union and the rest of the world.  

In response our Business Development Unit and Engineering & Built Environment department are 
working on plans for the Wind energy sector, with NHC aiming to become the leading Offshore Wind 
training hub in the North Highland area. From September 2022 we will be offering a Wind Energy 
engineering apprenticeship course, and we are also progressing the College becoming an accredited 
training centre for Global Wind Organisation courses which are mandatory courses for technical staff in 
the industry. This plan is unchanged from last year because progress was delayed significantly by Covid 
19, however the intention is to establish delivery of GWO courses by the end of calendar year 2021.

The College continues to develop its involvement with nationally significant engineering projects 
involving collaboration between industry, public sector and academia.  These are a combination of local 
(College-led) and regional (UHI-led) programs focused on the Renewable Energy sector.  We are 
spearheading UHI’s involvement in the Opportunity Cromarty Firth consortium, which intends to 
establish the Cromarty Firth area as both a free trade zone and also as a hub for innovation to help 
grow careers, skills and research and dramatically improve the local socio-economic situation.   This 
will capitalise on the ScotWind leasing round, which has the genuine potential for a 50+ year pipeline of 
Offshore Wind business, as well as the major opportunity for this green power to enable hydrogen 
production (ie Green Hydrogen) for local and export customers.  In parallel with this we are working on 
the Sustainable Aviation Test Environment project to underpin local trials of alternative-fuelled aircraft 
and their planned uses; and, through our CNSRP participation, supporting industry/innovation/skills 
‘ecosystem’ development with Space Hub Sutherland, and the area’s bid to host a major prototype 
fusion reactor facility at Dounreay. These will be major economic development opportunities for the 
College, for the University of the Highlands and Islands and the North Highland area.

The current pandemic has caused some real issues around delivery of commercial programmes but the 
college has moved swiftly to a blended learning format where possible and will continue to focus on 
supporting the delivery of statutory courses for industry as well as new opportunities such as the 
Kickstart initiative.   

In 2021-22, the college will continue to focus on responding to the economic downturn as a 
consequence of COVID 19 and will review, along with partners and key stakeholders where there are 
opportunities to develop new programmes to address skills gaps but also to review existing provision to 
identify where current curriculum must be adapted in response to changes in skills requirements in 
particular sectors.  Opportunities to improve accessibility of programmes and open new markets through 
alternative delivery models are now actively being developed and implemented. In parallel, the financial 
sustainability of programmes will continue to be considered along with opportunities to improve the 
efficiency of the various curriculum delivery models, working with partners across UHI.  The college is 
actively participating in the major tertiary curriculum review, started late 2020/21, being completed at 
both FE and HE levels across the UHI partnership.  This will have a significant impact on college 
operations and will provide further opportunities to improve access to curriculum and the sustainability 
of programmes across the region.  

.  
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Research 
The Environmental Research Institute (ERI) concentrates on high quality and impactful research in 
contemporary environmental issues. 

The ERI has a rapidly evolving research profile. It has key strategic areas of research: 1) environmental 
contamination and ecological health; 2) carbon, water and climate; 3) renewable energy and the 
environment; and 4) environment, economy and society. 

In terms of environmental contamination and ecological health, the main focus is on investigating 
anthropogenic impacts on water quality in marine and freshwater systems. This work includes testing 
samples from construction of roads and land-based windfarms; working with salmon farm industry to 
assess contaminants in sediment; assessing the environmental impact of veterinary drugs on world 
vulture populations; and developing innovative methods for assessing, quantifying and removing 
residual pharmaceuticals and nutrients from waste-water sources.
    
Research within carbon, water and climate continues to focus on the earth’s most efficient terrestrial 
carbon store i.e. peatland, and its ability to regulate water and climate, and support biodiversity. 
Assessment of the benefits of restoration of peat bog in the Flow Country is supported by a major project 
funded through Leverhulme Trust which aims to pioneer molecular to landscape scales assessments of 
whether restoration techniques work. Whilst both Covid 19 and Brexit delayed recruitment of staff and 
doctoral students, fieldwork resumed during spring 2021 with funders supporting extension where 
necessary. An innovative European Space Agency funded project to identify waste plastic in the oceans 
using remote sensing technologies is now fully operational.    

In terms of renewable energy and the environment the ERI is looking to develop innovative sensor 
platforms for insitu monitoring of wind, wave and tidal energy resources. A 3-year joint programme of 
research between the University of Aberdeen (UoA), the Environmental Research Institute, North 
Highland College, (NHC-UHI), and Ørsted will address knowledge gaps in offshore wind environmental 
characterisation, providing a vision for next-generation monitoring techniques. Contributions have also 
been made to Scottish Government contracts which seek to assess the ecological effects of offshore 
wind installations. Delays to fieldwork, as a result of the pandemic, have had a particular effect on PHD 
studies with a number of these seeking extension.  

Recognising a need for a broad and holistic approach to sustainability research which goes beyond 
specific or localised environmental impacts, a fourth theme, environment economy and society (EES) 
has been established at the ERI. Research will complement the other three themes with the aim of 
developing core expertise across the three ‘pillars’ of sustainability, carbon footprints and circularity. A 
large multi- partner project (Robinson) funded through Horizon 2020 is underway to look at the smart 
integration of local energy sources and innovative storage methods on islands. Working with other 
Academic Partners, the impact of Covid 19 on local communities was investigated across the Highlands. 
Contributions are also being made to Sustainable Aviation project led by HIAL.    

Financial Performance

Financial results 
The Statement of Comprehensive Income for the year ended 31 July 2021 shows a deficit of £652,000 
(2019-2020 £957,000 deficit). This was largely attributable to an Adjusted Operating Surplus of 
£680,000 prior to loan capital repayment, together with net depreciation charge of £226,000 (£793,000 
- £567,000), plus adjustments for the College’s share in Highland Council’s Superannuation Scheme 
amounting to £1,132,000. There was a favourable actuarial movement of £3,056,000 in this same 
scheme (2019/20 – actuarial valuation decrease of £4,212,000). The College’s total comprehensive 
income for the year was £2,454,000 surplus (2019/20 £5,017,000 deficit). This includes an unrealised 
surplus on revaluation of fixed assets of £50,000 (2019/20 £152,000). Total income decreased from 
£11.8 million to £11.5 million and expenditure has decreased from £13.1 million to £12.1 million. 
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Non-cash Allocation

This table shows the College’s underlying operating position for the year after adjusting for non-cash 
items.

2020/21
£’000

2019/20
£’000

Notes

Surplus/(deficit) before other gains and losses
(FE/HE SORP basis) for academic year

(652) (957) SEE SOCI

Add: 
- Depreciation budget for government funded 

assets (net of deferred capital grant) for 
academic year

226 224 SEE NOTE 13

Operating (deficit)/surplus on Central Government 
accounting basis for the academic year

(426) (733)

Following reclassification, incorporated colleges received a non-cash budget to cover depreciation, but 
this additional budget is not recognised under the FE/HE SORP accounting rules.  Colleges may show 
a deficit equivalent to net depreciation as a result of having to meet Government accounting rules and 
the requirement to spend the entire cash allocation.

Under the FE/HE SORP, the College recorded an operating deficit of £652,000 for the year ended 31 
July 2021.  After adjusting for the non-cash allocation provided under government rules, the College 
shows an “adjusted” deficit of £426,000 on a Central Government accounting basis.  

The deficit is attributable to other factors reflected in the adjusted operating table and also the impact 
of Covid 19 as explained in the performance report on pages 4 to 15.

Adjusted Operating Position (AOP) Note

2020-21
£’000

2019-20
£’000

Surplus/(deficit) before other gains and losses (652) (957)
Add back:

- Depreciation (net of deferred capital grant 
release) on both government funded and 
privately funded assets including NPD assets* 
(Note 13)

- Exceptional non-restructuring costs - 
Impairment 

- Pension adjustment – Net service cost (Note 20)
- Pension adjustment - Net interest cost (Note 20)
- Pension adjustment - Early retirement 

provision (Note 20)
- Donation to Arms-Length Foundation (ALF)* 

226

0

968
164
(24)

0

224

0

694
146

0

0
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Deduct:
- Non-Government capital grants (e.g. ALF 

capital grant) 
- Exceptional income (if disclosed as 

exceptional in accounts) - Insurance claim 
- CBP allocated to loan repayments and other 

capital items* (Note 9)
- NPD income applied to reduce NPD balance 

sheet
debt (Note 10)

0

0

66

0

0

0

62

0

Adjusted Operating Surplus 614 45

Creditor Payment Policy
It is the policy of North Highland College to pay invoices promptly and within one month. Monthly runs 
of purchase payments are made. There was no interest paid under the Late Payment of Commercial 
Debts (Interest) Act 1998. Year-end creditors represented 6.9% (2019/20 7.7%) of the aggregate 
purchases invoiced during the year. The College is currently unable to provide information in the year 
on performance against creditor payment target within one month.  

Spend of Cash Budget for Priorities

Following their reclassification as central government bodies from 1 April 2014, colleges are also 
required to comply with Central Government budgeting rules. In addressing the impact of these 
budgeting rules, Scottish Government and SFC committed to providing the cash budget previously 
earmarked for depreciation for use on specified priorities.

Colleges have now each been given a fixed cash budget for priorities which must be spent on agreed 
government priorities as outlined in the table below.  Spend of the College’s cash budget for priorities, 
and impact on the operating position for the academic year, is detailed below.

Table of cash budget for priorities spend

Revenue Priorities 2020/21
(£’000)

2019/20
(£’000)

Student support 0 0

2015-16 pay award 0 0

Voluntary severance 14 32

Estates Costs 17 2

Other agreed priorities (give detail) 0 0

Total impact on operating position 31 34

Capital Priorities

Loan repayments (including PFI, NPD repayments) 66 63

Estates Costs 0 0
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Provisions pre 1 April 2014 (give detail) 
carried on balance sheet

0 0

Total Capital 66 63

Total cash budget for priorities spend 97 97

Sustainability Strategy
The College works with Advanced Procurement for Universities and Colleges (APUC) and seeks to 
embed sustainability in its procurement function. 

The College prepared a revised Carbon Management Plan in November 2017 covering the period 1 
August 2017 – 31 July 2021. Its main focus is on seeking to reduce emissions from its estates, as 
properties are the biggest emitters. 

Wick College, Wick continues to be on the market with a view to sell. Ross House, Dornoch – an offer 
re sale has been received and legals are in the process of being completed. The proceeds are ear 
marked for the Burghfield extension. This extension addresses the specific needs of the golf curriculum 
including bespoke facilities to help grow this key academic area of the College’s business. This will 
reduce estate area space overall. 

In terms of carbon emissions that are reported being electricity (generation, transmission and 
distribution); natural gas; oil; propane; wood-pellet; fleet vehicles re petrol and diesel; and staff travel 
the College has achieved a 55% reduction (2019/20) in absolute emissions since 2015/16. The year 
2019/20 saw a reduction in estate and transport emissions which was continued into 2020/21. Carbon 
data has still to be finalised for 2020/21. However, it is likely to show a further reduction. The challenge 
will be once the impact of Covid 19 is lifted in a greater measure and there is more utilisation of estate.

Disclosure of Information to Auditors
The Board members who held office at the date of approval of this report confirm that, so far as they are 
aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the College’s Auditors are unaware; and each 
Board member has taken all the steps that he or she ought to have taken to be aware of any relevant 
audit information and to establish that the College’s Auditors are aware of that information. 

Approved by order of the members of the Board on 15th December 2021 and signed on its behalf by:

Debbie Murray Robbie Rowantree
Principal Interim Chair of Board
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Accountability Report 
Section One: Statement of Corporate Governance

DIRECTORS’ REPORT 
Members of the Board of Management
The North Highland College Board of Management is populated by the Board Chair; the Principal or 
Interim Principal of the College; two elected staff members; a nominated student member provided by 
HISA; and between seven and twelve non-executive board members.   

Name Designated Role Committee Membership Start 
Date

End Date

Blair 
Sandison

Chair of the Board of 
Management, North Highland 
College

Finance and General Purposes
Human Resources
Remuneration
Nominations

October 
2015

30 Jun 21

Robbie 
Rowantree

Chair of Audit and Risk 
Management Committee until 
16.06.21
Interim Chair of the Board from 
01.07.21

Audit and Risk Management 
Committee (until 30.6.21)
Remuneration Committee
Finance and General Purposes 
from 01.07.21
Nominations Committee from 
01.07.21

July 2014 N/A

Donald 
MacBeath

Principal and Chief Executive Finance & General Purposes
Human Resources
Remuneration
Audit and Risk Management (In 
attendance)

July 2014 30 Sep 20

Debbie 
Murray

Interim Principal and Chief 
Executive  from 1.10.20 until 
06.06.21; 
Principal and Chief Executive 
from 07.06.21

Finance & General Purposes 
Human Resources
Audit and Risk Management (in 
attendance)
Remuneration (by invitation and 
in attendance only)

October 
2020

N/A

Heather 
Mclean

Chair of Learning, Teaching and 
Research Committee Vice Chair 
of the Board and Senior 
Independent Member until 
30.06.21; 

Learning, Teaching and Research 
Committee
Remuneration Committee
Nominations Committee

April 2017 N/A

Graham 
Birnie

Chair of Finance and General 
Purposes Committee
Chair of Remuneration 
Committee
Vice Chair of the Board and 
Senior Independent Member 
from 01.07.21

Finance and Generation 
Purposes Committee
Remuneration Committee
Audit and Risk Management 
Committee from April 2021

January 
2017

N/A

Shona 
MacDougall

Chair of Human Resources 
Committee from 18.11.20
Interim Chair of Audit and Risk 
Management Committee from 
16.06.21

Human Resources Committee
Audit and Risk Management 
Committee
Remuneration Committee

August 
2020

N/A

John Hook Vice Chair of Learning, Teaching 
and Research Committee

Learning, Teaching and Research 
Committee

August 
2020

N/A
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Vice Chair of Human Resources 
Committee

Human Resources Committee 

Andrew 
Kerr

Chair of the Human Resources 
Committee until October 2020

Human Resources
Audit and Risk Management
Learning, Teaching and Research

January 
2017

October 
2020

Cllr Jim 
McGillivray

Independent Member Audit and Risk Management
Human Resources

June 2014 N/A

Patrick 
Murray

Independent Member Finance and General Purposes
Learning, Teaching and Research

December 
2018

31 July 21

Wendy 
Freyett

Independent Member Audit and Risk Management
Finance and General Purposes

April 2018 October 
2020

Tessa 
Palmer

Vice Chair Finance and General 
Purposes Committee until 
28.01.21

Audit and Risk Management
Finance and General Purposes

August 
2017

January 
2021

Matthew 
Groves

Independent Member Audit and Risk Management
Finance and General Purposes

December 
2018

November 
2020

Gillian 
Coghill

Independent Member Finance and General Purposes
Learning, Teaching and Research

August 
2020

April 2021

David 
Cargill

Independent Member Finance and General Purposes
Human Resources

February 
2021

N/A

Magnus 
Davidson

Staff Member Human Resources
Learning, Teaching and Research

April 2018 N/A

Dr Peter 
Hylton

Staff Member Learning, Teaching and Research
Nominations

March 
2020

N/A

Tia Cannop HISA Depute (student member) Human Resources
Learning, Teaching and Research
Audit and Risk Management
Finance and General Purposes

June 2019 July 2021

Sophie-Ann 
Bain

HISA Depute (student member) To be agreed by Board in August 
2021

June 2021 N/A

Five new non-executive Board members were appointed in June 2021:

Ian 
MacEachern

Independent Member from June 
2021 

To be agreed by Board in August 
2021

June 2021 N/A

Stephen 
Murby 
Wright

Independent Member from June 
2021

To be agreed by Board in August 
2021

June 2021 N/A

David 
Beaton

Independent Member from June 
2021

To be agreed by Board in August 
2021

June 2021 N/A

Anna 
McInnes

Independent Member from June 
2021

To be agreed by Board in August 
2021

June 2021 N/A

Judith Crow Independent Member from June 
2021

To be agreed by Board in August 
2021

June 2021 N/A

Following resignations from Board members during the year 2020/21, the North Highland College 
successfully undertook a non-executive member recruitment exercise between March and May 2021. 
Five new non-executive Board Members and a co-opted member of the Audit and Risk Management 
Committee were selected. The five Board Members were appointed by the University of Highland  & 
Islands as regional strategic body in June, following which PVG checks were undertaken and formal 
induction in the work of the Board and Committees was arranged for early in August 2021. The new 
members will attend Committee and Board meetings during the August and September cycle, having 
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been invited to attend as observers until formal induction has taken place.  

A summary of the Board members, and meetings attended during 2019/20 and 2020/21 is shown below: 

2019/20 2020/21
Board of Management 80.5% 81.7%

Committees
Audit & Risk Management 71.4% 72.0%
Finance & General Purposes 87.5% 80.0%
Human Resources 83.3% 92.6%
Learning, Teaching & Research
Remuneration 

85.7%
No meetings

86.7%
90.0%

The above is reflective of the various committee memberships throughout 2020/21 (i.e. attendance is 
noted against meetings members could have attended based on their membership at the time). 

Mr Struan Mackie who had been appointed Secretary to the Board of Management on 23 July 2019 
resigned his post with effect from 1 December 2020. Mrs Fiona Sinclair was appointed to the post of 

Secretary to the Board of Management on 16 November 2020 and succeeded Mr Mackie as Secretary 
to the Board of Management upon his departure.  

The Planning and Resources Group (PRG) considers issues of performance, internal control and risk 
and advises the Principal on strategy, operational planning and control, and any issues relevant to the 
running of the College:-

Members of the PRG during 2020/21 are shown below:

Mr Donald MacBeath        Principal (Resigned 30 September 2020)
Mrs Debbie Murray               Director of Enterprise & Innovation and Depute Principal;  

Interim Principal from 1 October 2020 until appointed Principal 

Member Board ARM F&GP HR LTR Remuneration Nominations

Donald MacBeath 1/1 1/1 1/1 1/1 1/1
Debbie Murray 4/4 3/3 4/4 3/3 3/3
Blair Sandison 5/5        3/4 4/4 2/2 2/2
Robbie Rowantree 4/5 3/4 1/1 1/2
Graham Birnie 4/5 1/1 5/5 2/2
Heather McLean 5/5 4/4 2/2 2/2
Shona MacDougall 4/5 3/3 3/3 2/2
John Hook 5/5 3/3 3/3
Andrew Kerr 0/1 1/1 1/1 1/1
Jim McGillivray 5/5        3/4 4/4

Patrick Murray 4/5 5/5 ¾
Gillian Coghill 2/4 2/2 2/2
David Cargill       1/2 1/2 1/1
Wendy Freyett 1/1 0/1 0/1 
Tessa Palmer 2/2 0/2 1/2 
Matthew Groves 1/1 1/1
Magnus Davidson 4/5 4/4 ¾
Dr Peter Hylton 5/5 4/4 2/2
Tia Cannop 1/5 2/4 1/3 0/3 2/4
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and Chief Executive with effect from 7 June 2021
Mrs Anne Bremner            Director of Learning, Teaching and Quality
Mr Roderick Ferrier           Director of Finance and Audit (Shared with Inverness College)
Joe Wright
Mr Giles Huby
Professor Stuart Gibb

HR Manager
Director of External Engagement and Estates
Director of Research and Innovation

STATEMENT OF BOARD OF MANAGEMENT’S RESPONSIBILITIES 

In accordance with the provisions of the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992 (the Act) the 
Board of Management is responsible for the administration and management of the College’s affairs, 
including ensuring an effective system of financial control, and is required to present audited financial 
statements for each financial year.

The Board of Management is responsible for keeping proper accounting records that disclose with 
reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the College and to enable it to ensure that the 
financial statements are prepared in accordance with the Act, the Statement of Recommended Practice 
on ‘Accounting in Further and Higher Education Institutions’ and other relevant accounting standards. 

In addition, within the terms of the Financial Memorandum between the University of the Highlands and 
Islands (UHI) as the Regional Strategic Body, and the Board of Management, the Board is required to 
prepare financial statements for each reporting period that give a true and fair view of the College’s state 
of affairs and of the surplus or deficit and cash flows for that period.

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the Accounts Direction issued by the Scottish 
Funding Council, which brings together the provisions of the Financial Memorandum with other formal 
disclosures that the Scottish Funding Council require the Board of Management to make in the financial 
statements and related notes.

In causing the financial statements to be prepared, the Board of Management has ensured that:

 suitable accounting policies are selected and applied consistently;

 judgement and estimates are made that are reasonable and prudent;

 applicable accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures disclosed 
and explained in the financial statements; and

 Financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis unless it is inappropriate to presume 
that the College will continue in operation. 

The Board of Management has taken reasonable steps to:

 ensure that funds from the Scottish Funding Council (SFC) via the Regional Strategic Body (UHI) 
are used only for the purposes that they have been given and in accordance with the Financial 
Memorandum and any other conditions that the Regional Strategic Body may from time to time 
prescribe;

 ensure that there are appropriate financial and management controls in place to safeguard public 
funds and funds from other sources;

 safeguard the assets of the College and prevent and detect fraud; and

 secure the economical, efficient, and effective management of the College’s resources and 
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expenditure.

The key elements of the College’s system of internal financial control, that is designed to discharge the 
responsibilities set out above, include the following:

 clear definitions of responsibilities of, and the authority delegated to, College management;

 a comprehensive planning process supplemented by detailed annual income, expenditure, and 
capital budgets;

 regular reviews of key performance indicators and business risks and monthly financial results 
involving variance reporting and updates of forecast outturns;

 clearly defined and formalised requirements for approval and control of expenditure, with 
investment decisions involving capital or revenue expenditure being subject to review according 
to approval levels set by the Board of Management;

 comprehensive Financial Regulations, detailing financial controls and procedures approved by the 
Finance Committee;   

 A professional internal audit service whose annual programme is established by the Audit & Risk 
Management Committee has reported reasonable and effective risk management, control and 
governance is in place.  This has been endorsed by the Board of Management with a report on 
internal audit activity within the College and an opinion on the adequacy and effectiveness of the 
College’s system of internal control.

Any system of internal financial control can, however, only provide reasonable, but not absolute, 
assurance against material misstatement or loss.
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GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
Introduction
The College is committed to exhibiting best practice in all aspects of corporate governance. This 
summary describes the manner in which the College has applied the main principles set out in the Code 
of Good Governance for Scotland’s Colleges, the purpose being to help the reader of the financial 
statements understand how the principles have been applied. 
 
Statement of Compliance with the 2016 Code of Good Governance for 
Scottish Colleges
North Highland College complies with all principles of the 2016 Code of Good Governance for Scottish 
Colleges.

BOARD OF MANAGEMENT
The College’s Board of Management meets at least four times per year and has several committees: - 
Audit & Risk Management Committee; Finance & General Purposes Committee; Remuneration 
Committee; Learning, Teaching and Research Committee; Human Resources Committee; and 
Nominations Committee. In addition, the Board of Management holds development planning days and 
training events during the course of the year for the purposes of training, self-evaluation and 
development. The role of the Board of Management is the strategic overview of the College. 

The core College committees (Audit and Risk Management; Finance and General Purposes; Learning, 
Teaching and Research; and Human Resources) meet four times a year in line with the Board of 
Management cycle, with the Audit and Risk Management Committee also meeting with the College’s 
external and internal auditors in attendance as appropriate. The Board of Management may hold 
extraordinary meetings to deal with emergency items of business, for example sales of property.  The 
Finance and General Purposes Committee may meet out with the Committee cycle to consider the 
annual budget. Covid 19 had no significant impact on governance during the current year. 

The College’s Internal Auditors monitor the systems of internal control, risk management controls and 
governance processes in accordance with an agreed plan of input and report their findings to the Senior 
Management Team and the Audit & Risk Management Committee. The College Internal Auditors, Wylie 
& Bisset reported in their annual report dated June 2021 for the year 2020/21, as follows:  “We are 
satisfied that sufficient internal audit work has been undertaken to allow us to draw a conclusion as to 
the adequacy and effectiveness of the College’s risk management, control and governance processes.  
In our opinion North Highland College did have adequate and effective risk management, control and 
governance processes to manage its achievement of the College’s objectives at the time of our audit 
work. In our opinion, the College has proper arrangements to promote and secure value for money.  Our 
fieldwork was carried out between September 2020 and April 2021 and we have not undertaken any 
further internal audit assignments at the time of this report.  In forming our opinion, we have carried out 
the following work:
 A review and appraisal of financial and other controls operated by the College;
 A review of the established policies and procedures adopted by the College;
 An assessment of whether the internal controls are reliable as a basis for producing the financial 
accounts;
 A review of accounting and other information provided to management for decision making;
 Compliance and substantive audit testing where appropriate;
 A review of the College’s procedures in place to promote and secure value for money.”

North Highland 
College Board of 

Management

Audit and Risk 
Management  

Committee

Finance and 
General Purposes 

Committee

Learning, Teaching 
and Research 

Committee

Human Resources 
Committee

Renumeration 
Committee

Nominations 
Committee
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The Senior Management Team is responsible for the implementation of agreed audit recommendations 
and Internal Auditors undertake periodic follow-up reviews to ensure that such recommendations have 
been implemented. The Committee considers detailed reports together with recommendations for the 
improvement of the College’s systems of internal control and management’s responses and 
implementation plans.  It also receives and considers reports from the Scottish Funding Council as they 
affect the College’s business, and monitors adherence to the regulatory requirements. 

Whilst Senior Management may attend meetings of the Audit & Risk Management Committee as 
necessary, they are not members of the Committee and at least once a year the Committee meets the 
External Auditors on their own for independent discussions.

TRANSPARENCY ARRANGEMENTS
The Board of Management conducts its business through a number of committees. Each committee has 
formally constituted Terms of Reference.  Minutes of all Board of Management meetings and Board 
Committee meetings are available from the Secretary to the Board at the following address or on the 
College’s website:

The North Highland College
Ormlie Road

Thurso
Caithness
KW14 7EE

The Secretary to the Board maintains a register of financial, personal interests and directorships of the 
members of the Board of Management.  The register is available for inspection at the above address or 
on the College’s website.

ROLE OF COMMITTEES OF THE BOARD OF MANAGEMENT

Finance and General Purposes Committee
This Committee is authorised by the Board to undertake any activity within its list of duties as outlined 
by its terms of Reference, taking account of the Financial Memorandum between the SFC and the 
College and the College’s own Financial Regulations. It is authorised to seek any information it requires 
from any employee and all employees are directed to co-operate with any request made by the 
Committee in pursuit of its duties. The Committee is authorised by the Board to obtain independent 
professional advice and to secure the attendance of non-members with relevant experience and 
expertise if it considers this necessary.

 Approve all key decisions taken in relation to the College Estate, Facilities and Financial matters 
 Allocate the Estates capital formula funding on an annual basis against which projects can be 

prioritised 
 Approve capital projects and co-ordinate the Estates Strategy 
 Consider the Health & Safety Policy and Fire Safety Policy annual review prior to 

recommendation to the BoM 
 Monitor and review all College Health & Safety statistics and Fire Safety statistics on an annual 

basis
 Monitor progress against Equalities schemes and Action Plans ensuring these are integrated 

into College policy, processes and procedures 
 Make recommendation on the annual budget to the Board of Management and monitor actual 

performance against budget and KPIs
 Consider the annual accounts and make recommendation of these for approval
 Advise the BoM with regard to College compliance with all statutory requirements relating to the 

college accounts and application of appropriate best practice in accounting procedures 
 Oversee systems of financial control and delegated authority and review the Financial 

Regulations on a regular basis
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 Liaise with the external auditor to ensure the college accounts show a true and fair view and 
exhibit regularity of spend

 Advise the BoM that the allocation of resources is in accordance with college priorities as defined 
in the strategic plan 

 Make recommendations to the Board on capital expenditure, investments and borrowing 
 Set the levels of course fees, as appropriate
 Approve amendments to the Fee Waiver Policy
 Consider/approve any College developments and initiatives not covered by the above and, in 

addition, not covered by the remit of the HR or LT&R Committees
 Review the status of the risk cluster assigned to the Finance and General Purposes Committee 

from the college risk register and make recommendations for associated amendments to the 
Audit and Risk Management Committee

Learning, Teaching and Research Committee
This Committee is authorised by the Board to undertake any activity within its list of duties as outlined 
by its Terms of Reference. The purpose of the Learning, Teaching & Research Committee is to: 

 Assist with setting the College’s academic and research aims and objectives 
 Monitor the academic, student support and research aspects of College operational planning to 

ensure consistency with the Strategic Plan 
 Oversee all matters relating to the academic progress and achievement of students by 

monitoring key performance indicators (KPIs) relating to learning, teaching and research, and 
requesting specific action plans, as necessary

 Monitor the College’s arrangements for improving learning and teaching and the overall quality 
of the student experience

 Monitor the implementation of key academic, learner engagement and research strategies. 
 Monitor research activities to ensure they are consistent with College and University aims and 

objectives
 Make approval recommendations for learning, teaching and research policies to the Board of 

Management
 Review the status of the risk cluster assigned to the Learning, Teaching and Research 

Committee from the college risk register and make recommendations for associated 
amendments to the Audit and Risk Management Committee

Human Resources Committee
This Committee is authorised by the Board to undertake any activity within its list of duties as outlined 
by its Terms of Reference. The Committee’s purpose is to approve the direction and have oversight of 
all personnel matters relating to the function of the Board of Management as employer of the College’s 
staff along with the development and monitoring of all HR strategies and work streams. 
The Human Resource Committee will: 

 Monitor HR policies and practices within the College, including those relating to recruitment and 
selection; terms and conditions of employment; Discipline and Grievance; and training and 
development

 Monitor the College’s compliance with statutory requirements relating to both UK and EU 
employment legislation

 Monitor the College’s compliance with best personnel and HR practice in line with IPD and ACAS 
guidelines 

 Ensure the College provides appropriate Staff training and development 
 Ensure the College operates an effective staff review procedure 
 Review reports of JNC and JCG meetings 
 Review the status of the risk cluster assigned to the Human Resources Committee from the 

college risk register and make recommendations for associated amendments to the Audit and 
Risk Management committee
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Remuneration Committee
This Committee shall determine and review the structure of the Senior Management Team and the 
remuneration package offered. The SMT comprises, The Principal, Director of Learning, Teaching and 
Quality, Director of Business Development, Director of Energy and the Built Environment, Director of 
Finance (Shared) and Estates, and the Director of the Environmental Research Institute, taking into 
account: 

 The efficient and effective use of public funds 
 That the College senior management team shall be fairly rewarded for their individual 

performance and contribution to the College’s overall performance 
 Where, in terms of senior management team remuneration, the College stands in relation to 

other comparable institutions in the sector
 The relationship between the remuneration of the senior management team and that of other 

employees of the College 
 The benefits granted to the senior management team
 The adequacy of pension arrangements and also the cost implication of pension arrangements, 

including the pension effect of remuneration proposals

Audit and Risk Management Committee
This Committee is authorised by the Board to undertake any activity within its list of duties as outlined 
by its Terms of Reference. It shall have sufficient authority and resources to fulfil its responsibilities in 
respect of corporate governance compliance and legislative requirements and will report to the BoM on: 

 The effectiveness of financial and non-financial internal control systems and provide an annual 
written report to the BoM prior to the signing of the financial statements

 Proper financial management, safeguarding the assets of the College, its subsidiaries and public 
funds

 The economy, efficiency and effectiveness of the College and its activities; 
 Corporate governance and conduct of the College and its operations. 
 The College wide Risk Register, with all amendments or recommendations for risk grading being 

brought forward for approval by the Audit and Risk Management Committee.

CORPORATE STRATEGY
In respect of its strategic and development responsibilities, the full Board of Management meets at least 
annually to consider establishment of the College’s strategic plan, with monitoring against targets 
undertaken throughout the planning period.

ESTATES STRATEGY  
Estates’ reporting is reported to the Finance and General Purposes Committee of the College. 

On 17 March 2017 the Board of Management, through the Finance and General Purposes Committee, 
approved a new Estates Strategy covering the period 1 August 2017 – 31 July 2021. Its main strategic 
aims are as follows: -

 Sell Ross House and Wick College, and with the proceeds and other funding, build a new 
extension on the Burghfield House site. The Burghfield House extension was completed in the 
early summer of 2021 with over £2.5m investment in the East Sutherland facility. An offer for 
sale of Ross House was received in 2020-21 and legals are due to complete shortly. 

 There is further work to be done to consider the estate requirements on the Ormlie site taking 
into account that many staff will be working partly on site and partly off site going forward. It is 
likely that this work will be done in association with some other public sector bodies which have 
premises in Thurso. The College continues to engage with local funders and enabling 
organisations such as the Caithness and North Sutherland Partnership (CNSRP) seeking public 
investment for the project. This included a presentation on the campus development project at 
the Dounreay Stakeholder Group (of which the College is a Member), with the presentation 
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attended by funders with statutory responsibilities to regenerate the Caithness and North 
Sutherland area.

 Other college properties will be subject to further review as to their condition and longer-term 
future as part of further estate review. 

 Carbon emissions have reduced considerably since 2015-16 with over 50% reduction. Carbon 
emissions have reduced in the last few years with Covid 19. However there is further work 
looking longer term at fuel sources and external funding available to de-carbonise the remaining 
estate.    

 In 2016/17 the estate was reviewed by surveyors working on behalf of consultants reporting to 
the Scottish Funding Council, as part of an exercise on looking at college estate Scotland-wide.   
North Highland College was awarded additional backlog funding amounting to £340,960 which 
was committed and spent by 31 March 2021. The College has been awarded for the year to 31 
March 2022 £348,007.

BOARD’S STATEMENT ON RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL 
CONTROL 
The College’s Board of Management is responsible for the College’s system of internal control and for 
reviewing its effectiveness. Such a system is designed to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure 
to achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against 
material misstatement or loss.

In the opinion of the Board of Management, the College is committed to implementing all provisions of 
the Code of Good Governance for Scotland’s Colleges.  As at the date of approval of the annual report 
and financial statements, the College’s system of internal control is regularly subjected to scrutiny and 
review by the Audit and Risk Management Committee, reporting to the Board of Management, in a 
manner consistent with the internal control guidance for directors on the Code of Good Governance for 
Scotland’s Colleges.

The College’s Executive Management Team and the Audit & Risk Management Committee also receive 
regular reports from the internal audit function, which includes recommendations for improvement. The 
Audit & Risk Management Committee’s role in this area is confined to a high-level review of the 
arrangements for internal control. The Board of Management’s agenda includes a regular item for 
consideration of risk and control and receives reports thereon from the Senior Management Team and 
the Audit & Risk Management Committee. 

The Board maintains a Risk Register, which records internal and external risks and identifies mitigating 
actions to reduce the threat of those risks and their impact.  

The Board recognises the effect of the Cyber Incident in March 2021 and how this has impacted on 
students, staff and systems. It also acknowledges that the way the College students and staff accesses 
and uses data has changed in order to mitigate the changes of a further incident. It would also record 
its appreciation of the UHI and College IT teams in their efforts to mitigate the worst effects of this. 

All scheduled Board and committee meetings from August 2020 until July 2021 were held virtually using 
Microsoft Teams in response to Covid-19 lockdown restrictions. The planned Strategy Day for 
formulating the NHC Strategic Plan was the only event during the year which took place in person, and 
this was carried out following the College risk assessment and with detailed Health and Safety advice 
following the recommended social distancing measures. In the interests of ensuring transparent 
decision making and in compliance with the Code of Good Governance, all agendas, minutes and 
relevant reports from Board and Committee meetings continue to be published on the College 
website.  In January of 2021, Board members began to use the Admincontrol meeting portal to facilitate 
the prompt issue of meeting papers and sharing of documents.  The use of the meeting portal has been 
widely regarded as a success and is likely to continue beyond the Covid-19 restrictions.  From 
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September 2021 it is likely that there will be a hybrid meeting system in operation.  The Board has paid 
regard to the College Development Report on Governing a College Using Virtual Meetings.  The 
Externally Facilitated Effectiveness Review of the Board of Management scheduled to take place in the 
spring of 2020 was delayed due to Covid-19, and took place virtually over the months of March, April 
and May of 2021.  There were no delays to planned governance work during the current year due to 
Covid-19.   

GOING CONCERN
The Board considers that the College accounts should continue to be prepared on a Going Concern 
basis. See Page 41 of the financial statements for a detailed consideration of Going Concern. 

CONCLUSION
The Board of Management has no matters to report in respect of failures in the expected standards of 
good governance, risk management and control for the year ended 31 July 2021.

Approved by order of the members of the Board on 15th December 2021 and signed on its behalf by:

Debbie Murray Robbie Rowantree
Principal Interim Chair of Board
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Section Two: Remuneration and Staff Report

The information disclosed within the Salary Entitlements and Senior Officials Pension tables below are 
subject to audit by the College’s external auditor, and all other sections of the Remuneration and Staff 
Report are reviewed for consistency. 

Remuneration Policy 
The Remuneration Committee shall determine and review the structure of the Senior Management 
Team and the remuneration package offered, taking into account:

1. The efficient and effective use of public funds;

2. That the College senior management team shall be fairly rewarded for their individual 
performance and contribution to the College’s overall performance;

3. Where, in terms of senior management team remuneration, the College stands in relation to 
other comparable institutions in the sector;

4. Consider the Scottish Government’s approach to remuneration in the public sector;

5. The relationship between the remuneration of the senior management team and that of other 
employees of the College;

6. The benefits granted to the senior management team;

7. The adequacy of pension arrangements and also the cost implication of pension arrangements, 
including the pension effect of remuneration proposals.

Remuneration including salary and pension entitlements
The information in this section of the report is subject to audit. Senior Management comprises Donald 
MacBeath – Principal (resigned September 2020); Debbie Murray - Principal; Roderick Ferrier - Director 
of Finance and Audit (shared with Inverness College); Anne Bremner - Director of Learning and 
Teaching; Giles Huby – Director of External Engagement and Facilities; Stuart Gibb - Director of 
Research and Innovation. 

The Director of Finance and Audit was regraded in the year based on a shared post with Inverness 
College. His salary for 2020-21 was backdated to May 2020 because of this. 
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Salary entitlements1

The following table provides detail of the remuneration and pension interests of senior management.

Year ended 31 July 2021 Year ended 31 July 2020

Name
Salary
£’000

Pension
Benefit 9

£’000
Total
£’000

Salary
£’000

Pension
Benefit
£’000

Total
£’000

Donald MacBeath, Principal 
– Actual (Resigned 30 Sept 
20) - Actual

16 -185 -169 94 35 129

Debbie Murray, Principal – 
Actual

76 101 177 61 24 85

Roderick Ferrier, Director of 
Finance & Audit - Actual

87 231 318 57 26 83

Anne Bremner, Director of 
Learning & Teaching - 
Actual

65 23 88 60 22 82

Stuart Gibb, Director of 
Research & Innovation - 
Actual

76 38 114 76 35 111

Giles Huby, Director of 
External Engagement & 
Facilities

70 0 70 72 10 82

Median Remuneration
Colleges are required by the FReM (Government Financial Reporting Manual 2015-16) to disclose 
the relationships between the remuneration of the highest paid official and the median remuneration 
of their workforce.

The banded remuneration of the highest paid official in the organisation in the financial year 
2020/21 was £87,000 (2019/20 £94,000). This was 3.2 times (2019/20 3.6 times) the median 
remuneration of the workforce which was £27,487 (2019/20 £26,243). 

Accrued Pension Benefits 
Pension benefits for employees are provided through a) the Scottish Teacher’s Superannuation Scheme 
(STSS), a defined benefit scheme, which was a notionally funded and contracted out of State Earnings-
Related Pension Scheme until 1 April 2016 when it stopped being contracted out; and b) the Local 
Government Pension Scheme (LGPS).

Both STSS and LGPS were final salary pension schemes until 31 March 2015.  From 1 April 2015 they 
are Career Average Revalued Earnings (CARE) pension schemes.  This means that pension benefits 
are based on the average earnings over the person’s time of being a member of the scheme.

The scheme’s normal retirement age is 60 or 65 depending on the length of membership in the scheme.  
Contribution rates are set annually for all employees. 

There is no automatic entitlement to a lump sum.  Members may opt to give up (commute) pension for 
lump sum up to the limit set by the Finance Act 2004.  

1 Note:

9 The value of pension benefits accrued during the year is calculated as the real increase in pension multiplied by 20 less the contributions made 
by the individual.  The real increase excludes increases due to inflation or any increase or decrease due to a transfer of pension rights.

28/57 41/108



The North Highland College UHI  Financial Statements for the year ended 31 July 2021                                                                                                       

29

Senior Officials Pension
 Pension benefits are provided to senior officials on the same basis as all other staff. The accrued 
pension benefits for senior officials are set out in the table below, together with the pension contributions 
made by the College.

Name Accrued 
pension 

at 
pension 

age at 31 
July 2021

Accrued 
lump sum 

at 
pension 

age at 31 
July
2021

Real 
increase 

in pension
1 August
2020 to 
31 July 
2021

Real 
increase 
in lump 

sum
1 August 
2020 to 
31 July 
2021

CETV 
at 31 
July 
2021

CETV 
at 31 
July 
2020

Real 
increase 
in CETV

£’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000 £’000
Donald MacBeath, 
Principal (Resigned 
September 2020)

33 216 2 133 666 883 -222

Debbie Murray, 
Principal

27 33 5 6 451 359 87

Roderick Ferrier, 
Director of Finance & 
Audit 

37 63 11 20 673 527 141

Anne Bremner, 
Director of Learning & 
Teaching 

8 0 1 0 117 95 17

Stuart Gibb, Director of 
Research & Innovation 

28 38 2 1 471 432 35

Giles Huby, Director of 
External Engagement 
& Facilities

0 0 0 0 0 0 0

Cash equivalent Transfer Value (CETV)
A Cash Equivalent Transfer Value (CETV) is the actuarially assessed capitalised value of the pension 
scheme benefits accrued by a member at a particular point in time.

The value of the accrued pension benefits has been calculated on the basis of the age at which the 
person will first become entitled to receive a pension on retirement without reduction on account of its 
payment at that age; without exercising any option to commute pension entitlement into a lump sum; 
and without any adjustment for the effects of future inflation. The pension figures shown relate to the 
benefits that the person has accrued as a consequence of their total Local Government Scheme service 
and not just their current appointment. 

In considering the accrued pension benefits figures the following contextual information should be taken 
into account: 

(i) the figures for pension and lump sum are illustrative only in light of the assumptions set out 
above and do not necessarily reflect the actual benefits that any individual may receive upon 
retirement.

(ii) the accrued benefits figures are reflective of the pension contributions that both the employer 
and the scheme member have made over a period of time.

Real increase in CETV
This reflects the increase in CETV that is funded by the employer. It does not include the increase in 
accrued pension due to inflation, contributions paid by the employee (including the value of any benefits 
transferred from another pension scheme or arrangement) and uses common market valuation factors 
for the start and end of the period.
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Staff Report 

Compensation for loss of office 

No employees left under voluntary exit terms. Two were made redundant – both were offered alternative 
roles but rejected these after trials. The statutory payments for these added up to £866.  A third case 
requested redundancy under statutory terms when they were included in a pool for potential redundancy 
– this request was authorised by the Principal. This avoided a compulsory selection scenario. The 
statutory payment was £12,698.  These redundancies met the terms of the SFC memorandum. There 
were no pension strain costs and no other compensatory costs.  
 
The table below summarises the exit packages by cost band. 

Exit package 
cost band

Number of 
compulsory 

redundancies

Number of other 
departures agreed 

(including any 
voluntary 

redundancies)

Total number of 
exit packages by 

cost band

<£10,000 0 2 2

£10,000 - 
£25,000

0 1 1

£25,000 - 
£50,000

0 0 0

£50,000 - 
£100,000

0 0 0

£100,000 - 
£150,000

0 0 0

£150,000 - 
£200,000

0 0 0

Total number 
of exit 
packages

0 3 3

Total cost (£) 0 £13,564 £13,564

Salaries and Related costs 

2021 2021 2021 2020

Directly 
employed 

staff

Seconded 
and agency 

staff

Total Total

Wages and 
salaries

£5,855,204 £0 £5,855,204 £5,708,906

Social security 
costs

£528,010 £0 £528,010 £518,461

Other pension 
costs 

£1,994,882 £0 £1,994,882 £1,684,202

Total £8,378,096 £0 £8,378,096 £7,911,569

30/57 43/108



The North Highland College UHI  Financial Statements for the year ended 31 July 2021                                                                                                       

31

Average number 
of FTE

154 0 154 163

The college employed 171 females and 94 males as at 31 July 2021. 

In the year ended 31 July 2021 staff turnover was 16.2% 

Facility time 

In accordance with the Trade Union (Facility Time Publication Requirements) 

Regulations 2017, the College provided the following support through paid facility time 

for union officials working at the College during the year ended 31 March 2021 

Relevant union officials  
Number of employees who were relevant 
union officials during the relevant period:

Full-time equivalent employee 
number:

3 3
  
Percentage of time spent on facility time 
Percentage: Number of employees:
0% 0
1%-50% 3
51%-99% 0
100% 0
 
Percentage of pay bill spent on facility time 
Total cost of facility time: £500
Total pay bill: £8,378,096
Percentage of the total pay bill spent on 
facility time: 

0.006%

 
Paid trade union activities 
Time spent on trade union activities as a 
percentage of total paid facility time hours: 

16%

  
Sickness absence data 
The Board of Management decided to cease recording and reporting this information a number of years 
ago as they believed this did not add any value to the attendance management process which existed 
within the College. Therefore, figures are not available for 2020/21.

Staff Policies
The College’s Recruitment Policy and procedures provide for the full and fair consideration for 
employment by the College of applicants who declare a disability. This is undertaken through the 
application of a guaranteed interview scheme, whereby disabled candidates who (on application) meet 
the minimum criteria for the job are guaranteed an interview. We do not interview disabled candidates 
who do not (on application) meet the minimum standards for the job.

The College’s Attendance Management Policy and procedures are used to manage disability 
scenarios post-recruitment on an individual basis. This includes referral to Occupational Health Services 
to inform decisions about how we can facilitate the retention of disabled employees and in applying 
reasonable adjustments. 
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We do not have specific policies about the promotion, training and career development of disabled 
employees. Disabled employees are protected from discrimination by law and we will implement 
reasonable adjustments, on a case-by-case basis, to ensure disabled employees are not 
disadvantaged.   
  
Expenditure on Consultancy
North Highland College incurred £45,157 on consultancy in 2020/21.  

Off – Payroll Engagements
There is nothing to report under the above for North Highland College. 

Parliamentary Accountability Report 
There is nothing to report under the above for North Highland College. 

Debbie Murray Robbie Rowantree
Principal Interim Chair of Board
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Independent auditor’s report to the Board of Management of North Highland College, the Auditor 
General for Scotland and the Scottish Parliament

Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion on financial statements

We have audited the financial statements in the annual report and accounts of North Highland College 
for the year ended 31 July 2021 under the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992 and section 
44(1)(c) of the Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005. The financial statements comprise 
the College Statement of Comprehensive Income, College Statement of Changes in Reserves, College 
Balance Sheet, and the Statement of Cash Flow and notes to the financial statements, including a 
summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been applied in 
their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards, including Financial 
Reporting Standard 102 The Financial Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland 
(United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). 

In our opinion the accompanying financial statements:

 give a true and fair view in accordance with the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 
1992 and directions made thereunder by the Scottish Funding Council of the state of the college’s 
affairs as at 31 July 2021 and of its deficit for the year then ended;

 have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting 
Practice; and

 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Further and Higher Education 
(Scotland) Act 1992 and directions made thereunder by the Scottish Funding Council, the 
Charities and Trustee Investment (Scotland) Act 2005, and regulation 14 of The Charities 
Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended).

Basis of opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on Auditing 
(UK) (ISAs (UK)), as required by the Code of Audit Practice approved by the Auditor General for 
Scotland. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the auditor’s 
responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of our report. We were appointed 
by the Auditor General on 31 May 2016. The period of total uninterrupted appointment is five years. 
We are independent of the college in accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to 
our audit of the financial statements in the UK including the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical 
Standard, and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these 
requirements. Non-audit services prohibited by the Ethical Standard were not provided to the 
college. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to 
provide a basis for our opinion.

Conclusions relating to going concern basis of accounting

We have concluded that the use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the 
financial statements is appropriate.

Based on the work we have performed, we have not identified any material uncertainties relating to 
events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the college’s ability 
to continue to adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of [X] months until 31st July 2023 
from when the financial statements are authorised for issue.
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Risks of material misstatement

We report in a separate Annual Audit Report, available from the Audit Scotland website, the most 
significant assessed risks of material misstatement that we identified and our judgements 
thereon.

Responsibilities of the Board of Management for the financial statements

As explained more fully in the Statement of the Board of Management's Responsibilities, the Board of 
Management is responsible for the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in 
accordance with the financial reporting framework, and for such internal control as the Board of 
Management determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free 
from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

In preparing the financial statements, the Board of Management is responsible for assessing the 
college’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless deemed inappropriate.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s 
report that includes our opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a 
guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect a material 
misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the 
economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.

Explanation as to what extent the audit was considered capable of detecting irregularities, 
including fraud

Irregularities, including fraud, are instances of non-compliance with laws and regulations. We design 
procedures in line with our responsibilities outlined above to detect material misstatements in respect 
of irregularities, including fraud. The risk of not detecting a material misstatement due to fraud is higher 
than the risk of not detecting one resulting from error, as fraud may involve deliberate concealment by, 
for example, forgery or intentional misrepresentations, or through collusion. Procedures include:

 obtaining an understanding of the applicable legal and regulatory framework and how the college 
is complying with that framework;

 identifying which laws and regulations are significant in the context of the college;

 assessing the susceptibility of the financial statements to material misstatement, including how 
fraud might occur; and

 considering whether the audit team collectively has the appropriate competence and capabilities 
to identify or recognise non-compliance with laws and regulations.

The extent to which our procedures are capable of detecting irregularities, including fraud, is affected 
by the inherent difficulty in detecting irregularities, the effectiveness of the college’s controls, and the 
nature, timing and extent of the audit procedures performed.
Irregularities that result from fraud are inherently more difficult to detect than irregularities that result 
from error as fraud may involve collusion, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of 
internal control.

The capability of the audit to detect fraud and other irregularities depends on factors such as the 
skilfulness of the perpetrator, the frequency and extent of manipulation, the degree of collusion involved, 
the relative size of individual amounts manipulated, and the seniority of those individuals involved. 
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A further description of the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is located 
on the Financial Reporting Council's website www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities. This description 
forms part of our auditor’s report.

Report on regularity of expenditure and income

Opinion on regularity

In our opinion in all material respects the expenditure and income in the financial statements were 
incurred or applied in accordance with any applicable enactments and guidance issued by the Scottish 
Ministers.

Responsibilities for regularity

The Board of Management is responsible for ensuring the regularity of expenditure and income. In 
addition to our responsibilities to detect material misstatements in the financial statements in respect of 
irregularities, we are responsible for expressing an opinion on the regularity of expenditure and income 
in accordance with the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000.

Report on other requirements

Opinion prescribed by the Auditor General for Scotland on audited part of the 
Remuneration and Staff Report

We have audited the parts of the Remuneration and Staff Report described as audited. In our opinion, 
the audited part of the Remuneration and Staff Report has been properly prepared in accordance with 
the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992 and directions made thereunder by the Scottish 
Funding Council.

Statutory other information 

The Board of Management is responsible for the statutory other information in the annual report 
and accounts. The statutory other information comprises the Performance Report and the 
Accountability Report excluding the audited part of the Remuneration and Staff Report. 

Our responsibility is to read all the statutory other information and, in doing so, consider whether 
the statutory other information is materially inconsistent with the financial statements or our 
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If we identify such 
material inconsistencies or apparent material misstatements, we are required to determine whether 
this gives rise to a material misstatement in the financial statements themselves. If, based on the 
work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this statutory other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the statutory other information and we do not 
express any form of assurance conclusion thereon except on the Performance Report and Governance 
Statement to the extent explicitly stated in the following opinions prescribed by the Auditor General for 
Scotland.

Opinions prescribed by the Auditor General for Scotland on Performance Report and 
Governance Statement

In our opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:

 the information given in the Performance Report for the financial year for which the financial 
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements and that report has been 
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prepared in accordance with the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992 and 
directions made thereunder by the Scottish Funding Council; and

 the information given in the Governance Statement for the financial year for which the financial 
statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements and that report has been 
prepared in accordance with the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992 and 
directions made thereunder by the Scottish Funding Council.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception

We are required by the Auditor General for Scotland to report to you if, in our opinion:

 adequate accounting records have not been kept; or

 the financial statements and the audited part of the Remuneration and Staff Report are not in 
agreement with the accounting records; or

 We have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit

 We have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

Conclusions on wider scope responsibilities

In addition to our responsibilities for the annual report and accounts, our conclusions on the wider 
scope responsibilities specified in the Code of Audit Practice are set out in our Annual Audit Report.

Use of our report

This report is made solely to the parties to whom it is addressed in accordance with the Public Finance 
and Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 and for no other purpose. In accordance with paragraph 120 of 
the Code of Audit Practice, we do not undertake to have responsibilities to members or officers, in their 
individual capacities, or to third parties.

Stephen Reid, for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP

Ernst & Young LLP

Atria One

144 Morrison Street

Edinburgh

EH3 8EX

Date:  

Ernst & Young is eligible to act as an auditor in terms of section 1212 of the Companies Act 2006.
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Statement of Comprehensive Income
for the year ended 31 July 2021

          
Notes  Year ended  Year ended

31 July 2021 31 July 2020
£000 £000

Income

SFC Grants 2 6,235 5,784
UHI Grants 3 1,856 1,678
Education contracts, Tuition Fees & Charges 4 1,703 1,790
Other Grant Income 5 861 831
Other Operating Income 6 838 806

Total Income 11,493 10,889

Expenditure

Staff costs 8 8,378 8,126
Other Operating Expenses 10 2,737 2,818
Depreciation 13 793 677
Interest payable and other finance costs 11 237 225

Total Expenditure 12,145 11,846

Deficit before Other Gains and Losses (652) (957)

Loss on disposal of assets 13 0 0

Deficit before Taxation (652) (957)

Taxation 12 0 0

Deficit for the Year (652) (957)

Actuarial Gain/(Loss) in respect of Pension Scheme 20 3,056 (4,212)
Unrealised Surplus on revaluation of land and buildings 13                         50 152

Total Comprehensive (Expenditure)/Income for the year 2,454 (5,017)

Represented by:
Unrestricted Comprehensive Income for the year 2,592 (4,965)
Revaluation Reserve Comprehensive Income for the year (138) (51)

2,454 (5,017)

The Statement of Comprehensive Income is prepared under the FE/HE SORP. The SORP does not 
permit colleges to reflect the non-cash budget for depreciation in the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income.  The Non-Cash Allocation and Adjusted Operating Position Tables on Pages 12 & 13 provides 
details of the adjusted operating position on a Central Government accounting basis.  
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Statement of Changes in Reserves
for the year ended 31 July 2021

   Income &
Expenditure

Reserve
Revaluation 

Reserve Total
£000 £000 £000

Balance at 1 August 2019 (7,562) 7,025 (537)

Deficit from Statement of Comprehensive 
Income (957) 0

     
(957)

Other Comprehensive Loss (4,212) 152 (4,060)
Transfers between revaluation and income and
Expenditure reserve 204 (204) 0
Total Comprehensive Loss for the year (4,965)  (52) (5,017)

Balance at 31 July 2020 (12,528) 6,973 (5,555)

Balance at 1 August 2020 (12,528) 6,973 (5,555)

Deficit from Statement of Comprehensive 
Income (652) 0 (652)
Other Comprehensive Gain 3,056 50 3,156
Wick College Revaluation 0 (100) (100)
Transfers between revaluation and income and
Expenditure reserve 188 (188)

       
0

Total Comprehensive Loss for the year 2,592 (238) 2,404

Balance at 31 July 2021 (9,936) 6,736 (3,152)
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Balance Sheet 
as at 31 July 2021

As at As at 
Notes 31 July 2021 31 July 2020

£000 £000

Non-Current Assets
Tangible Fixed assets 13 19,587 18,167

19,587 18,167

Current Assets
Stock 14 22
Trade Debtors and Other Receivables 14 1,494 1,066
Assets Held for Sale 13 441 541
Cash and cash equivalents      18 586 426

2,535 2,055
Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 15 (3,131) (2,342)

Net Current (Liabilities)/Assets (596) (287)

Total Assets less Current Liabilities 18,991 17,880

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 16 (11,877) (11,171)

Provisions
Pension Provisions 17 (10,314) (12,263)

TOTAL NET (LIABILITIES)/ASSETS (3,200) (5,555)

UNRESTRICTED RESERVES
Income and Expenditure Reserve (9,936) (12,528)
Revaluation Reserve 6,736 6,973

TOTAL RESERVES (3,200) (5,555)

The financial statements were authorised for issue and approved by the Board of Management on 15th 
December 2021 and were signed on its behalf on that date by:

Debbie Murray
Principal

                        Robbie Rowantree
                        Interim Chair of Board
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Statement of Cash Flows
for the year ended 31 July 2021

   
Year ended Year ended

31 July 2021 31 July 2020
Note £000 £000

Cash flow from Operating Activities (652) (957)

Adjustment for non-cash items
Depreciation  13 793 677
Revaluation of Property  0 0
(Increase)/decrease in stocks 8 (8)
(Increase)/decrease in debtors  14 (428) (233)
Increase/(decrease) in creditors 15,16 825 402
Increase/(decrease) in pension provision  17 (25) (36)
LGPS Pension costs less contributions payable  20 968 694

Adjustment for investing or financing activities
Interest payable  11 237 225
Capital Grant Income                                                             2,5 (567) (453)

1,159 311

Cash Flow from Investing Activities
Capital Grants receipts 1,303 710
Payments made to acquire Fixed Assets  13 (2,163) (710)

(860) 0
Cash flows from Financing Activities
Interest Paid on loan  11 (73) (79)
Repayment of loans  16 (66) (62)

(139) (140)
Increase in cash and cash equivalents in the year 160 170

Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of the Year 426 256

Cash and cash equivalents at end of the Year  18 586 426
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Notes to the Financial Statements

1a. Statement of Principal Accounting Policies

BASIS OF PREPARATION

The Financial Statements are prepared in accordance with Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 
1992 and the Accounts Directions issued thereunder by the Scottish Funding Council which requires 
compliance with the Statement of Recommended Practice: Accounting for Further and Higher Education 
(2015), and the Government Financial Reporting Manual 2015/16 (FREM) where applicable.

BASIS OF ACCOUNTING

The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the historical cost convention modified by 
revaluation of certain Fixed Assets.

GOING CONCERN 

The net liability position reported in these Financial Statements is due to the adoption of Financial 
Reporting Standard (FRS) 102 which has resulted in the reclassification of Government Capital Grants 
previously disclosed in Reserves, being disclosed under liabilities less than one year and greater than 
one year. The Net Assets Position prior to longer term Pension Provisions is £7,114,000. Pension 
Provisions include a provision for Early Retirements of £619,000 and a Pension Liability of £9,696,000 
for the College’s share of deficit in the Highland Council Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). 
Once these are accounted for the College’s Net Liability position is £3,236,000. To the extent that the 
pension is not met from the College’s other sources of income, it may only be met by future grants or 
Grant in Aid from the Scottish Funding Council via UHI as the Regional Strategic Body. This is because, 
under the normal conventions applying to Parliamentary control over income and expenditure, such 
grants may not be paid in advance of need. 

Net Current Liabilities position is £596,000. This will improve once proceeds from the sale of Ross House 
are received (whose anticipated sale proceeds have been reinvested in the Burghfield extension). These 
proceeds are anticipated to be received in October 2021. The College considers that with careful 
financial monitoring this position will be manageable in 2021-22. The bank at 31 July 2021 is £586,000. 
Cash flow projections to 31 July 22 projects cash of £384,000 at 31 March 22 being the lowest monthly 
balance for the forthcoming year. UHI through the SFC has indicated short term support if the college 
requires this as the college has previously received in the past if it has required this.  

The loan outstanding to the Bank of Scotland as at 31 July 2021 is £1,147,000. The College is not aware 
of any breaches in covenants in the year to 31 July 2021, and projection of income and expenditure to 
31 July 2022 indicate that compliance with covenants is likely to continue. 

Longer term though, without further additional funding to the sector, then the College will struggle. 
Discussions are taking place in the UHI Partnership Assembly to discuss the way ahead for the 
UHI/Colleges’ partnership to become more efficient and resilient in terms of governance and finances. 
Three colleges – North Highland College, Lews Castle College, and West Highland College are in 
merger discussions. 

RECOGNITION OF INCOME

Government Revenue Grants
Government Revenue Grants are recognised in income on a systematic basis over the period in which 
the College recognises the related costs for which the grant is intended to compensate.

Government Capital Grants
Government Capital Grants are released to income in accordance with the accrual model over the useful 
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life of the asset it relates to on completion of the development phase. The accrual model requires the 
College to recognise income on a systematic basis over the period in which the College recognises the 
related costs for which the grant is intended to compensate. Grants of £418,000 are due to be released 
in 2021/22; £3,936,000 in future years. 

Non-Government Grants
Non-Government capital and revenue grants are recognised using the performance model. If there are 
no performance conditions attached, the grants are recognised as revenue when the grants are received 
or receivable. 

A grant that imposes specific future performance related conditions on the recipient is recognised as 
revenue only when the performance related conditions are met. A grant received before the revenue 
recognition criteria are satisfied is recognised as a liability. Grants of £138,000 are due to be released 
in 2021/22; £6,756,000 in future years. 

Non-Exchange Transactions
Non-Exchange Transactions, such as donations of cash, goods, assets or services, are recognised 
using the performance model. 

Non-exchange transactions that impose specific future performance related conditions on the recipient, 
is recognised as revenue only when the performance related conditions are met.

Non-exchange transactions with restrictions attached are recorded within the income on entitlement. 
The restricted income received is held in the temporarily restricted reserve until such time that 
expenditure is incurred in accordance with the restrictions.

PENSION SCHEMES

The College participates in two multi-employer defined benefit pension schemes; more details are in 
note 20.

The Scottish Teachers’ Superannuation Scheme 
Teaching staff may join the Scottish Teachers’ Superannuation Scheme (STSS) which is administered 
by the Scottish Public Pensions Agency (SPPS). The North Highland College is unable to identify its 
share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the STSS on a consistent and reasonable basis and 
therefore, as required by FRS 102, accounts for its participation in the STSS as if it were a defined 
contribution scheme. The contributions are determined by qualified actuaries on the basis of periodic 
valuations and are recognised in the accounting periods in which they arise. The College is unable to 
identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the scheme on a consistent and reasonable 
basis and therefore, as required by FRS 102, the scheme is accounted for as if it were a defined 
contribution scheme. As a result, the amounts charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
represent the contributions payable to the scheme in the year.

Local Government Pension Scheme
Support and Research staff may join the Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) which is 
administered by Highland Council. The fund is a defined benefit pension scheme. Defined benefit plans 
are post-employment benefit plans other than defined contribution plans. Under defined benefit plans, 
the College’s obligation is to provide the agreed benefits to current and former employees and actuarial 
risk (that benefits will cost more or less than expected) and investment risk (that returns on assets set 
aside to fund the benefits will differ from expectations) are borne, in substance, by the College. The 
College recognises a liability for its obligations under defined benefit plans net of plan assets. This net 
defined benefit liability is measured as the estimated amount of benefit that employees have earned in 
return for their service in the current and prior periods, discounted to determine its present value, less 
the fair value (at bid price) of plan assets. The calculation is performed by a qualified actuary using the 
projected unit credit method.  
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The future long-term obligation in respect of early retirees who retired in the 1990s, which is not funded 
by the aforementioned pension schemes, is provided for on the Balance Sheet. This provision is valued 
annually in accordance with guidance issued by the Scottish Funding Council.

TANGIBLE FIXED ASSETS

a. Land and Buildings

Land and Buildings are shown in the balance sheet at valuation, on the basis of depreciated 
replacement cost.  Buildings are depreciated over their expected useful life to the College. The 
properties were revalued in June 2017 and have been subject to indexation every year since and are 
due for revaluation in 2022.  The properties were split into component parts being: main building; roof; 
windows; plant and machinery; heating systems, and where appropriate kitchens. This revaluation 
exercise saw an increase in valuation; however because of component lives, depreciation reduced 
compared to trend; and deferred grant release relating to buildings also decreased in line with this. 

b. Plant and equipment 

Plant and equipment costing less than £2,500 per individual item is written off to the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income in the period of acquisition, unless it is part of an aggregated project 
spend.  Generally other equipment over £2,500 is capitalised at cost.

c. Computer equipment 

Computer equipment such as laptops are bought through Revenue and generally not capitalised. 
Larger equipment such as servers are capitalised.

d. Motor vehicles

Motor vehicles costing less than £2,500 per item is written off to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income in the period of acquisition. Generally other vehicles over £2,500 are capitalised at cost.

e. Assets Held for Sale

At present Wick College is on the market to sell.  An offer has been received for Ross House, 
Dornoch and legals are due to complete shortly. 

Depreciation of Fixed Assets (Property) is charged based on an estimate of the life of the property left 
based on information provided by an external surveyor/architect. Deprecation of non-property Fixed 
Assets is based on annual instalments commencing in the year of acquisition at rates estimated to write 
off their cost or valuation less any residual value over their expected useful lives. 

Freehold – Main Buildings 24 - 95 years remaining
Building - Roof 4 - 55 years remaining
Building - Windows 4 - 25 years remaining
Building - Plant and Machinery 3 – 20 years remaining
Building - Heating Systems 3 – 20 years remaining 
Building - Kitchens 2 – 21 years remaining
Plant and Equipment 2 - 10 years
Computer Equipment 3 years
Motor Vehicles 4 years

Where assets are acquired with the aid of specific grants, they are capitalised and depreciated as above.  
The related grants are credited to Deferred Capital Grants and are released to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income over the expected useful economic life of the related asset on a basis consistent 
with the depreciation policy. A review for impairment of fixed assets is carried out if events or changes 
in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount of any fixed asset may not be recoverable.
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SUBSEQUENT EXPENDITURE ON EXISITING FIXED ASSETS
Where significant expenditure is incurred on tangible fixed assets, it is charged to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income in the period it is incurred, unless it meets one of the following criteria, in which 
case it is capitalised and depreciated on the relevant basis:

- Market value of the fixed asset has subsequently improved
- Asset capacity increases
- Substantial improvement in the quality of output or reduction in operating costs
- Significant extension of the assets life beyond that conferred by repairs and maintenance

MAINTENANCE OF PREMISES
The cost of routine corrective maintenance is charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in 
the period in which it is incurred.

LEASED ASSETS
Costs in respect of Operating Leases are charged on a straight line basis over the lease term. 

INVESTMENTS
Fixed Asset Investments are carried at market value less any provision for a permanent diminution in 
their value.

STOCKS
Stocks are items held for resale and are stated at the lower of their cost and net realisable value. 

FOREIGN CURRENCY TRANSLATION
Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded using the rate of exchange ruling at the date of the 
transaction.  Monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are translated at the rates 
of exchange ruling at the end of the financial period with all resulting exchange differences being taken 
to the Statement of Comprehensive Income in the period in which they arise.

TAXATION
The College is considered to pass the tests set out in Paragraph 1 Schedule 6 Finance Act 2010 and 
therefore it meets the definition of a charitable company for UK Corporation Tax purposes. Accordingly, 
the College is potentially exempt from taxation in respect of income or capital gains received within 
categories covered by Chapter 3 Part 11 Corporation Tax Act 2010 or Section 256 of the Taxation of 
Chargeable Gains Act 1992, to the extent that such income or gains are applied exclusively to charitable 
purposes.

The College is partially exempt in respect of Value Added Tax, so that it can only recover a minor 
element of VAT charged on its inputs. Irrecoverable VAT on inputs is included in the costs of such inputs 
and added to the cost of tangible fixed assets as appropriate, where the inputs themselves are tangible 
fixed assets by nature.
  
PROVISIONS
Provisions are recognised when the College has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of 
a past event, it is probable that a transfer of economic benefits will be required to settle the obligation, 
and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation. Where the effect of the time value 
of money is significant, the estimated cash flows are discounted using the discount rate prescribed by 
the Scottish Funding Council.

Unfunded pensions are accounted for under FRS 102 as required by the Accounts Direction issued by 
the Scottish Funding Council.

REVALUATION RESERVE
Surpluses arising on the revaluation of the College’s properties are transferred to the revaluation 
reserve. Additional depreciation charged on the revalued amount of these assets is transferred from 
Revaluation Reserve to Income and Expenditure Reserve together with any surplus or deficit on 
disposal.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

AGENCY ARRANGEMENTS
The College acts as an agent in the collection and payment of certain Student Support Funds. These 
funds are excluded from the Statement of Comprehensive Income, and movements have been disclosed 
in the notes to the accounts as the College is not subject to risks relating to the income and expenditure.
The Funds are Bursary, Childcare, Discretionary and Educational Maintenance Allowance.  See Note 
25.

Year Ended
31 July 21

Year Ended
31 July 20

2. SFC Grants
£000 £000

Recurrent FE Grant 5,342 5,218
Estates Maintenance Grant 76 38
FE and HE Childcare funds 55 62
Release of Deferred Capital Grants (SFC) 405 285
Other grants 357 181

6,235 5,784

3. UHI Grants
Recurrent HE Grant 1,389 1,416
Other UHI Grants 467 262

1,856 1,678

4. Tuition Fees and Charges 
Further Education Fees –UK 145 139
Further Education Fees – EU 1 0
Further Education Fees – non EU 0 1
Higher Education Fees 846 775
SDS contracts 119 124
Education contracts 497 494
ALF Income 61 204
LEC and Other Contracts 32 53
Kickstart Income 2 0

1,703 1,790

5. Other Grant Income
European Funds 0 82
Other Funds 594 437
Student Allowances 18 31
Furlough income 87 113
Release of Deferred Capital Grants (Non-SFC) 162 168

861 831

There were 24 staff furloughed within the year ended 31 July 2021.

6. Other Operating Income
Catering and Residences 1 114
Other Income Generating Activities 197 176
Other Income 640 516

838 806
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

7. Staff numbers and costs

Staff numbers (full-time equivalent): Year ended Year ended
31 July 2021 31 July 2020

                          
Executive Management 5 5
Academic/Teaching Departments 60 64
Academic/Teaching Services 19 18
Administration and Central Services 37 36
Premises 11 11
Research Grants and Contracts 18 23
Apprentices 1 2
Catering and Residences 3 4

154 163
Staff on permanent contracts 136 137
Staff on temporary contracts 18 26

154 163

Staff costs:
£000 £000

Executive Management 391 448
Academic/Teaching Departments 3,905 3,970
Academic/Teaching Services 427 413
Administration and Central Services 1,215 1,122
Premises 377 378
Research Grants and Contracts 1,033 1,014
Apprentices 12 36
Catering and Residences 50 51
Other Pension costs 968 694

8,378 8,126

Wages and Salaries 5,855 5,890
Social security costs 528 519
Pension Contributions 1,027 1,023
Other pension costs 968 694

8,378 8,126
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

Staff numbers, including senior post-holders and the Principal, who received emoluments in the 
following ranges:

Year ended 31 July 2021 Year ended 31 July 2020
Senior

 post-holders Other staff    
 Senior 

post-holders Other Staff

£60,001 to £70,000 2 - 2 -
£70,001 to £80,000 2 -                       2 -
£80,001 to £90,000 1 - - -
£90,001 to £100,000 - - 1 -

                   5 - 5 -

8. Senior post-holders' emoluments
Year ended Year ended

31 July 2021 1 July 2020
Number Number

Senior post-holders including the Principal: 5 6

Senior post-holders' emoluments including the Principal: £000 £000

Salaries 391 421
Pension contributions 57 69

448 490

Amounts paid to the Principal:

Donald MacBeath Principal until 30.09.2020
Salary 16 94
Pension contributions 3 17

19 111

Debbie Murray – Principal from 07.06.2021
Salary 76 -
Pension contributions 13 -

89 -

The pension contributions in respect of the Principal are in respect of Employer's contributions to the 
Local Government Pension Scheme (Highland Council). The College’s contributions to the Local 
Government Scheme is paid at a variable rate which increases according to pay-scale. There were no 
taxable or non-taxable benefits paid to the Principal in the year. Members of the Board of Management, 
other than the Principal, did not receive any payment from the College other than the reimbursement of 
travel and subsistence expenses incurred in the course of their duties.

9. Other operating expenses
Year  ended Year  ended

 31 July 
2021  31 July 2020

             
£000              £000

Academic/Teaching departments and services 1,047 1,240
Administration and central services 739 591
FE & HE Childcare Funds 55 62
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

Other Income Generating Activities 9 9
Premises 816 745
Other expenditure 63 88
Catering and residences 8 83

2,737 2,818

Other operating expenses include:
Auditors' remuneration:

external audit 23 33
internal audit 9 9

    project audit 4 14
Disbursements of childcare funds to students 55 62
Hire of land and buildings 131 131
Hire of plant and machinery 102 112

10. Interest payable and other finance costs

Loan Interest 73 79
Net charge on pension scheme 164 146

237 225
11. Taxation

The Board does not consider that the College is liable for any corporation tax arising out of its activities 
during the year. 

12. Tangible fixed assets

Freehold 
Land  and 
Buildings 

Computer 
Equipment

 Plant and 
Equipment 

Motor 
Vehicles  Total 

 £000 £000  £000 £000  £000 
Cost / Valuation
At 1 August 2020 22,793 1,045 4,518 43 28,399
Additions 2,063 0 99 0 2,162
Revaluation 50 0 0 0 50
Disposals 0 0 0
At 31 July 2021 24,906 1,045 4,617 43 30,611

Depreciation
At 1 August 2020 4,706 1,045 4,444 36 10,231
Charge for year 731 0 60 2 793
Revaluation
Disposals 0 0 0 0 0

At 31 July 2021 5,437 1,045 4,504 38 11,024

At 31 July 2021 19,469 0 113 5 19,587

At 1 August 2020 18,060 0 100 0 18,167
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Inherited 3,193 0 0 0 3,193
Financed by capital 
grant 11,127 0 113 5 11,245
Other 5,149 0 0 0 5,149
Net book value
At 31 July 2021 19,469 0 113 5 19,587

Included in land and buildings are assets under construction (Burghfield Golf Centre Extension 
amounting to £2,426,000). These monies have not been depreciated in the year. Inherited assets and 
those financed by capital grant may only be sold with prior consent of the Scottish Funding Council 
(SFC). The College is obliged to use sales proceeds in accordance with the instructions of the SFC. 
The SFC has confirmed that proceeds from Ross House can be invested in the Burghfield golf centre 
extension. 

Land and buildings were revalued in June 2017 by an independent valuer. The basis of valuation was 
depreciated replacement cost. The property valuations were split into component parts being: - Main 
Building, Roof, Windows, Plant & Machinery, Heating and where appropriate Kitchens.  In 2020/21 
property values were increased by 0.3%.

The College's properties of Wick College and Ross House are on the market to sell.  These two 
properties are disclosed under Current Assets being Assets for Sale.  They are included at the lower of 
either Market Value or Depreciated Replacement Cost. Wick College £0 (31 July 2020 £100,000); Ross 
House £441,000.

If inherited land and buildings had not been revalued they would have been included at 31 July 2021 
as:

 £000 
Cost 507
Aggregate depreciation based on cost (266)
Net book value based on cost 241

13. Trade Debtors and other receivables
 As at  As at 

31 July 2021 31 July 2020
£000 £000

Trade Debtors 397 495
Prepayments and accrued income 1 570
Other debtors 1,096 1

1,494 1,066

14. Creditors: Amounts falling due within one year
Bank Loans and overdrafts 71 66
Trade creditors 301 223
Other creditors 524 423
Other taxation and social security 130 135
Accruals and deferred income 1,658 1,007
Deferred income – government capital grants 447 488

3,131 2,342
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

15. Creditors: Amounts falling due after more than one year
Bank loan 1,076 1,147
Deferred income – government capital grants 10,801 10,024

11,877 11,171

Bank loans, other loans and other creditors are repayable as follows:-

In one year or less 71 66
Between one and two years 76 64
Between two and five years 257 242
In five years or more 743 842

1,147 1,214

The term loan is held with Bank of Scotland. Per the original loan agreement the principal sum is due 
to be repaid in monthly instalments over a 25 year period at a fixed rate of interest with interest 
calculated monthly in the instalments outlined above. There is no security given over assets, but 
covenants have been agreed. The College paid £66,000 in loan capital in the year ended 31 July 2021 
and this is shown on page 40 in cash flow payments.

 16. Provision for Liabilities and Charges

Year  ended Year  ended
 31 July 

2021
 31 July 

2020
             £000              £000

Enhanced Pensions – Early Retirements 
Opening Provision 643 678
Additional Provision 35 26

678 704
Charged to Provision in Year (59) (61)
Closing Provision 619 643

Local Government Pension Scheme - Provision
Opening Provision 11,620 6,568
Contributions in the year (512) (521)

11,108 6,047
Additions in the year 1,644 1,361
Remeasurements in the year (3,056) 4,212
Closing Provision 9,696 11,620
Total Provision 10,314 12,263

The Provision for Enhanced Pensions has been revalued using actuarial tables provided by the SFC. 
The net interest applied was (1.25%).   

The LGPS Pension Provision relates to the liabilities under the college’s membership of the Local 
Government defined benefit pension scheme.  Further details are given in Note 20.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

17. Cash and cash equivalents      
At 1 August 

2020  Cashflows 
 Other   

changes
At 31 July

2021
£000 £000 £000 £000

Cash at bank and in hand 426            160   -                  586

426        160          -                  586

18. Capital commitments

At 31 July 2021 the College had capital commitments contracted of £34,578 (2020 - £1,527,572).

19. Pension and similar obligations

The College participates in two multi-employer defined benefit pension schemes as described in note 
1a.

Scottish Teachers Superannuation Scheme (STSS)
The STSS scheme is an unfunded defined benefit scheme. Contributions on a pay as you go basis are 
credited to the Exchequer under arrangements governed by the Superannuation Act 1972. A notional 
asset value is ascribed to the Scheme for the purpose of determining contribution rates. Under the 
definitions set out in Financial Reporting Standard 102, the STSS is a multi-employer Pension Scheme. 
The College is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the scheme. 

Accordingly, the College has accounted for its contributions as if it were a Defined Contribution Scheme.  
The current contribution rates are variable rates for employees based on salary ranges, and Employer’s 
contribution rate is 23%.

Local Government Superannuation Scheme
The Highland Council Pension Fund is a funded Defined Benefits Scheme, with the assets held in 
separate trustee administered funds. The total contributions made for the year ended 31 July 2021 were 
£681,000 (2020 - £691,000) of which Employer’s contributions totalled £506,000 (2020 - £515,000) and 
Employees’ contributions totalled £175,000 (2020 - £176,000). The current contribution rates are 
variable rates for employees based on salary ranges, and Employers’ contribution rate is 17.9%.

Total pension cost for the year 2021 2020
£000 £000

Teachers’ Pension Scheme: contributions paid 523 520

Local Government Pension Scheme:
Contributions paid 506 515
FRS 102 charge 968 694

Charge to the Statement of Comprehensive Income 1,474 1,209

Enhanced pension charge to Statement of Comprehensive
Income

Total Pension Cost for Year within staff costs 1,997 1,729
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

The following information is based upon a full actuarial valuation of the Fund at 31 July 2021 by a 
qualified independent actuary for the purposes of FRS102.

Principal Actuarial Assumptions at the Balance Sheet Date:-
2021 2020

Rate of Increase in Salaries 3.65% 3.1%
Rate of Increase in Pensions 2.85% 2.2%
Inflation Assumption (RPI) - -0.5%
Inflation assumption (CPI) - 0.5%

Discount rate for scheme liabilities 1.6%     1,4%

The estimated split of investments in the scheme at the Balance Sheet Date were as follows:-

Equities 70% 68% 71%
Bonds 14% 15% 14%
Property 10% 11% 12%
Cash 6% 6% 3%
The assumed life expectations on retirement age 65 are: -

Years
Retiring Today
Males 20.9
Females 23.5

Retiring in 20 Years
Males 22.3
Females 25.5

The Employer contributions for the year to 31 July 2022 will be approximately £506,000

The analysis of amounts charged to the Statement of Comprehensive Income (SOCI) is as follows:

Year ended
31 July 2021

£’000

Year ended
31 July 2020

£’000

Charged to staff costs:
Current service costs (1,480) (1,215)
Past service costs 0 0
Total charged to staff costs (1,480) (1,215)
Credit/charge for net return on 
pension scheme:
Interest income 298 446
Interest cost (462) (592)
Net interest charged (164) (146)
Credit/charge to other 
comprehensive income:
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Return on assets 4,216 (576)
Other experience 432 140
Gains and losses arising on changes 
in financial assumptions

(3,079) (3,461)

Gains and losses arising on changes in 
demographic assumptions 1,487 0

Actuarial Gain/(Loss) 3,056 (3,897)

Total charge to the SOCI 1,412 (5,258)

Analysis of the movement in deficit 
during the year:
Deficit in scheme at start of year (11,620) (6,568)
Service costs (1,480) (1,215)
Employer contributions 512 521
Net interest costs (164) (146)
Actuarial gain/(loss) 3,056 (4,212)
Deficit in scheme at end of year (9,696) (11,620)

20. Financial Commitments

At 31 July 2021 the College had annual commitments under non-cancellable operating leases as 
shown:

 Year ended  Year ended 
31 July 2021 31 July 2020

£000 £000

Land and Buildings
Payable during the year 131 131
Future minimum lease payment due:
Not later than 1 year 131 131
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 242 373
Later than 5 years 0
Total lease payments due 373 504

Other
Payable during the year 102 112

Future minimum lease payment due:
Not later than 1 year 65 66
Later than 1 year and not later than 5 years 39 33
Later than 5 years 0 0
Total lease payments due 104 99
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

21. Losses and Special Payments

There were no amounts written off during the year in respect of losses and special payments.

22. Post Balance Sheet Events     
There were no adjusting post balance sheet events. An offer for sale has been received and accepted 
for Ross House. Legals are in the process of being finalised. 

23. Related Party Transactions

Due to the nature of the College's operations and the composition of its Board of Management (being 
drawn from local and private sector organisations), it is possible that transactions may take place with 
organisations in which a member of the College Board may have an interest. All transactions involving 
organisations in which a member of the Board of Management or a key Manager of the College may 
have a material interest are conducted at arm's length in accordance with normal project and 
procurement procedures, and subject to the College's Conflict of Interest procedures.

We have reviewed all transactions and identified below those related party transactions that could be 
considered material to either party.

Member Organisation Position
J McGillivray Highland Council     Councillor 
D Beaton Stagecoach Highlands Managing Director

Expenditure transactions totalling £36,086 were made with Highland Council and £27,082 with 
Stagecoach. There were no income transactions. At 31 July 2021 our Highland Council creditor balance 
was £2,128 and Stagecoach Creditor balance was £3,386.

During the period the College had various material transactions with the University of the Highlands & 
Islands, being the Regional Strategic Body. The University of the Highlands & Islands was designated 
a higher education institute in April 2001 and received funding from the Scottish Funding Council from 
1 July 2002. The College receives funding for higher education activity through the University of the 
Highlands & Islands, and FE funding through it being the Regional Strategic Body.
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Notes to the Financial Statements (continued)

24. Bursaries and Other Student Support Funds

2020/21 2020/21 2020/21 2020/21 2019/20
FE 

Bursary
£’000

EMAs

£’000

Other

£’000

Total

£’000

Total

£’000
Balance b/fwd 0 0 0 0 0
Allocation received in 
year

1,549 61 191 1,801 1,900

Expenditure (1,253) (61) (173) (1,487) (1,643)
Repaid to funding 
council as clawback

0 0 0 0 0

College contribution to 
funds

0 0 0 0 0

Intra-region allocations 0 0 0 0 0
Virements 0 0 0 0 0
Balance c/fwd                          296 0 18 314 257
Represented by:
Repayable to funding 
council as clawback

0 0 0 0 0

Repayable to region 296 0 18 314 257
Retained by college for 
students

0 0 0 0 0

FE and HE childcare funds

2020/21                  
£’000

2019/20               
£’000

Balance b/fwd 0 0
Allocation received in year 55 62
Expenditure (55) (62)
Repaid to funding council as clawback 0 0
College contribution to funds Intra-region 
allocations

0 0

Virements 0 0
Balance c/fwd 0 0
Represented by:
Repayable to funding council as clawback 0 0

Repayable to region 0 0

Retained by college for students 0 0
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Accounting Estimates and Judgements
The financial statements contain estimated figures that are based on assumptions made by the College 
about the future or that are otherwise uncertain. Estimates are made taking into consideration historical 
experience, current trends and other relevant factors based on the information available to the College 
at the time of preparing the financial statements. However, because balances cannot be determined 
with certainty, actual results could be materially different from the assumptions and estimates.

The items in the College’s Balance Sheet at 31 July 2021 for which there is a significant risk of material 
adjustment in the forthcoming financial year are as follows:

PENSIONS LIABILITY
Estimation of the net liability to pay pensions depends on a number of complex judgements relating to 
the discount rate used, the rate at which salaries are projected to increase, changes in retirement ages, 
mortality rates and expected returns, on pension fund assets. A firm of consulting actuaries is engaged 
to provide the College with expert advice about the assumptions to be applied by the College in 
estimating these values at the balance sheet date. 

The actuarial inputs into the pension liability valuation are subject to annual review, and have a 
significant impact on the potential valuation. Historically it is common for small changes in the discount 
rate, salary assumption rate and pension rate to have material impacts on the yearend valuations on a 
year to year basis. We have outlined the potential impact of future changes below. The pension liability 
at 31 July 2021 following the updated actuarial valuation was £9.832 million, a decrease of £1.788 
million from 31 July 2020. 

Given the history of significant changes to liability valuations in the past, the ongoing sensitivity to future 
changes, and the requirement to update assumptions annually, the College expects future liabilities to 
continue to change significantly going forward. 

More information on the key assumptions used in the actuarial valuation of the estimates is available in 
note 20 to the accounts, including information on the key assumptions, risks and sensitivities.  

VALUATION OF PROPERTY
The valuation of the College’s estate which is subject to revaluation are subject to significant estimation 
due to a number of factors, including ongoing changes to estimates around the costs of replacing 
existing assets, the market value fluctuation of comparable assets used for valuation, the current 
condition and future maintenance costs of assets, changes to regulatory standards and the remaining 
useful economic lives of the assets. Given the material nature of the College’s assets, there is a high 
likelihood that changes in these estimates will result in material changes in the valuation of assets on 
the balance sheet. The total value of the College’s assets at 31 July 2021 is outlined and broken down 
by asset category at note 13. 

Land and Buildings were independently valued for the purposes of the financial statements by Sinclair 
MacIntosh, Chartered Surveyors. The basis of valuation was depreciated replacement cost. The latest 
full valuation for the full fixed asset portfolio was undertaken as at 31 July 2017. A review of the fixed 
asset year-end valuation as at 31 July 2021 confirmed that there was no impairment to the properties 
to be recognised in these financial statements. Per the College’s accounting policy, it applies an annual 
indexation to its fixed asset portfolio. Upon advice sought from Thomson Gray an indexation uplift of 
0.3% was applied.
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Accounts direction for Scotland’s colleges 2020-21 

1. It is the Scottish Funding Council’s direction that institutions1 comply with the 2019 Statement of 
Recommended Practice: Accounting for Further and Higher Education (SORP) in preparing their 
annual report and accounts2. 

2. Institutions must comply with the accounts direction in the preparation of their annual report and 
accounts in accordance with the Financial Memorandum with the Scottish Funding Council 
(SFC) or the Regional Strategic Body (RSB) (for assigned colleges). 

3. Incorporated colleges and Glasgow Colleges’ Regional Board are also required to comply with 
the Government Financial Reporting Manual 2020-21 (FReM) where applicable. 

4. Incorporated colleges and Glasgow Colleges’ Regional Board are reminded that they must send 
two copies of their annual report and accounts to the Auditor General for Scotland by 31 
December 2021. 

5. The annual report and accounts should be signed by the chief executive officer/Executive 
Director and by the chair, or one other member of the governing body.

6. Incorporated colleges and Glasgow Colleges’ Regional Board should reproduce this Direction 
as an appendix to the annual report and accounts. 

Scottish Funding Council 
3 June 2021

1 The term “instituitons” includes colleges and Glasgow Colleges’ Regional Board.
2 Glasgow Colleges’ Regional Board’s accounts are prepared on a consolidated basis, incorporating the results of City of Glasgow 

College, Glasgow Clyde College and Glasgow Kelvin College.  New College Lanarkshire’s accounts are also prepared on a 
consolidated basis, incorporating the results of South Lanarkshire College.
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About this report
This report has been prepared in accordance with Terms of Appointment Letter from Audit Scotland dated 31 May 2016
through which the Auditor General  for Scotland has appointed us as external auditor of North Highland College (the College)
for financial years 2016/17 to 2021/22. As a result of the impact of Covid-19 our appointment was extended by a further
12 months to include the financial year 2021/22. We undertake our audit in accordance with the Public Finance and
Accountability (Scotland) Act 2000 and our responsibilities as set out within Audit Scotland’s Code of Audit Practice. This
report is for the benefit of the College and is made available to the Auditor General for Scotland and Audit Scotland. This
report has not been designed to be of benefit to anyone except the recipients. In preparing this report we have not taken into
account the interests, needs or circumstances of anyone apart from the recipients, even though we may have been aware
that others might read this report.

Any party other than the Recipients that obtains access to this report or a copy (under the Freedom of Information Act
2000, the Freedom of Information (Scotland) Act 2002, through a Recipient's Publication Scheme or otherwise) and chooses
to rely on this report (or any part of it) does so at its own risk. To the fullest extent permitted by law, Ernst & Young LLP
does not assume any responsibility and will not accept any liability in respect of this report to any party other than the
Recipients

Complaints
If at any time you would like to discuss with us how our service to you could be improved, or if you are dissatisfied with the
service you are receiving, you may take the issue up with Stephen Reid who is our partner responsible for services under
appointment by Audit Scotland, telephone 0131 777 2839, email sreid2@uk.ey.com. If you prefer an alternative route, please
contact Hywel Ball, our Managing Partner, 1 More London Place, London SE1 2AF. We undertake to look into any complaint
carefully and promptly and to do all we can to explain the position to you. Should you remain dissatisfied with any aspect of
our service, or with how your complaint has been handled, you can refer the matter to Diane McGiffen, Audit Scotland, 4th
Floor, 102 West Port, Edinburgh, EH3 9DN. Alternatively you may of course take matters up with our professional institute.
We can provide further information on how you may contact our professional institute.

Contents
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Executive Summary: Key
Conclusions from our 2020/21
audit
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[We intend to issue an
unqualified audit opinion
on the College’s 2020/21
financial statements.]

Financial Statements
[We have materially completed our audit of the College’s financial statements
for the year ended 31 July 2021.] We identified eight unadjusted audit
differences and two adjusted audit difference arising from the audit which
have been reflected within the financial statements. The draft financial
statements and supporting working papers were provided in line with the
agreed audit timetable and were of a reasonable standard. We worked with
the finance team to update the financial statements disclosures, including in
relation to areas where streamlining could occur to support the
understandability of narrative sections and ensure focus on key areas.
We concluded that the other information subject to audit, including the
applicable parts of the Remuneration Report and the Annual Governance
Statement were appropriate. We were satisfied that the disclosures reflect the
College’s compliance with the Code of Good Governance for Scotland’s
Colleges, and the key changes in governance arrangements that were
required as a result of changes to working practices due to Covid-19.
Going Concern
Management is required to conclude on the going concern basis of
preparation in the financial statements. As a result of the unprecedented
financial and operational pressures faced by the College to respond to Covid-
19, we placed additional emphasis on management’s assessment of going
concern and the related need to report on the impact of financial pressures on
the College and its financial sustainability. We were satisfied that the College
remains a going concern and has made appropriate required disclosures in the
financial statements. We have considered the related risks to the financial
sustainability of the College and its longer term delivery of strategic
objectives in our wider scope reporting.

We continued to review
and update our risk
assessment throughout
the audit, including the
materiality level applied.
Our materiality levels
were amended to reflect
the increase in
expenditure in 2020/21.
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Wider Scope and Best Value
We summarise the conclusion we reached in response to our work on the
wider scope dimensions below.

Financial Sustainability

The financial environment in which
the College operates was already
challenging, and the Covid-19
pandemic has resulted in further,
significant financial pressures.
While additional funding was
awarded during 2020/21 which
helped ease immediate pressures,
the future outlook remains unclear.
The College’s FFR was submitted to
the Scottish Funding Council in
October 2021 showing a deficit of
£0.216 million for 2021/22. This
demonstrates the tight financial
operating position that the College
faces in an ever-changing external
environment.

Governance and Transparency

The key features of good
governance have remained in
place at the College and have
been operating effectively
throughout the Covid-19
lockdowns. The College intends
to implement a hybrid meeting
structure moving forward, after
seeking the views of members.

We have noted in Appendix E
progress has been made against
our audit recommendation with
some remaining ongoing.

RED AMBER

Financial Management

The College has an established budget setting and monitoring
framework which includes presentation of financial updates to the Board
and Finance and Audit committees throughout the year. We are satisfied
that the core financial management arrangements were not materially
impacted as a result of Covid-19 and the subsequent lockdowns with
clear financial reporting continuing throughout the year.

GREEN
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Introduction

Purpose of this report

In accordance with the Public Finance and Accountability (Scotland) Act
2000 (“the Act”), the Auditor General for Scotland appointed EY as the
external auditor of North Highland College (“the College”) for the five year
period 2016/17 to 2020/21. Our appointment term has been extended by
a further 12 months, to financial year 2021/22. We undertake our audit in
accordance with the Code of Audit Practice (the Code), issued by Audit
Scotland in May 2016; Auditing Standards and guidance issued by the
Financial Reporting Council; relevant legislation; and other guidance issued
by Audit Scotland.

This Annual Audit Report is designed to summarise our key findings and
conclusions from our audit work. It is addressed to both members of the
Board of Governors and the Auditor General for Scotland, and is presented
to those charged with governance. This report is provided to Audit Scotland
and will be published on their website.

We draw your attention to the fact that our audit was not designed to
identify all matters that may be relevant to the College. Our views on
internal control and governance arrangements have been based solely on
the audit procedures performed in respect of the audit of the financial
statements and the other procedures performed in fulfilling our audit plan.

A key objective of our audit reporting is to add value by supporting the
improvement of the use of public money. We aim to achieve this through
sharing our insights from our audit work, our observations around where
the College employs best practice and where practices can be improved. We
use these insights to form our audit recommendations to support the
College in improving its practices around financial management and
control, as well as around key aspects of the wider scope dimensions of
audit. Where we identify areas for improvement, we will highlight these
throughout this report together with our judgements and conclusions
regarding arrangements, and where relevant recommendations and actions
agreed with management.

As a result of the
impact of Covid-19,
Audit Scotland
agreed to extend our
appointment as
external auditor of
the College by at
least 12 months, to
2021/22.
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Our independence

We confirm that we have undertaken client and engagement continuance
procedures, which include our assessment of our continuing independence to
act as your external auditor. Further information is available in Appendix B.

Scope and responsibilities

The Code sets out the responsibilities of both the College and the auditor
(summarised in Appendix A). We outlined these in our Annual Audit Plan,
which was presented to the audit committee in May 2021.

The impact of the Covid-19 pandemic

In 2019/20 we were required to supplement our Annual Audit Plan, with an
addendum outlining the main anticipated areas of impact on the audit
following our reassessment of all audit planning and risk assessments. As
Covid-19 was a known factor in planning the audit in 2020/21, the same
approach has not been required. We have, however, added to our planning
and execution procedures throughout the audit to take into account various
factors related to Covid-19, and have continued to reassess the risks facing
the College in this light:

• 2020/21 was the first full year where there were material transactional
impacts in the College’s financial statements, in particular through the
recognition of additional Covid-19 related costs and subsequent Scottish
Funding Council funding support.

• While some of the uncertainty around the impact of Covid-19 on key
balance sheet valuations had reduced from 31 July 2020 to the current
yearend, this also remained a key area of audit focus.

• We continued to work with management to ensure the financial statements
adequately reflected the impact of Covid-19, in particular through the
performance and accountability reports, governance statement, and
accounting estimates and judgements disclosures.

The 2020/21 audit was conducted fully remotely. Information was shared
between the College and the audit team through our secure portal, and
inquiries and investigation took place through Microsoft teams meetings. In
order to mitigate the risk of not being able to view key documents and
information on systems in person, additional supplementary procedures were
completed to verify the information provided by management.

Both the audit team and College finance team worked in conjunction to ensure
the additional impact of these working arrangements were minimised as far as
possible. We would take this opportunity to thank the full team for their co-
operation and support throughout this period.

The ongoing disruption to
the delivery of further
education as a result of
Covid-19 continues to
have a significant impact
on the financial
statements and
subsequent audit.

The financial statements
reflect the impact of
Covid-19 on the College’s
financial position and
performance.
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Our review and reassessment of materiality

Our Annual Audit Plan explained that our audit procedures would be performed
using a materiality of £110,000 . We considered whether any change to our
materiality was required in light of Covid-19 and the College’s 2020/21
financial performance.

Our evaluation requires professional judgement and so takes into account
qualitative as well as quantitative considerations. Factors which we consider
include the perspectives and expectations of users of the financial statements
as well as our risk assessment as to the likelihood of material misstatements
arising in the financial statements.

As outlined in our Annual Audit Plan, based on considerations around the
expectations of financial statement users and qualitative factors, we apply
lower materiality levels to the audit of the Remuneration Report and Related
Party Transactions.

Materiality at an individual account level1% of the College’s operating expenditure Level that we will report to committee

£60,500

Overall Materiality

£121,000

Tolerable Error Nominal amount

£6,050

We updated our
assessment of materiality
based on the 2020/21
financial performance of
the College.  Planning
materiality was increased
from £110,000 to
£121,000.

Financial statement audit

We are responsible for conducting an audit of the College’s financial
statements. We undertake our audit in accordance with the Code of Audit
Practice (the Code), issued by Audit Scotland in May 2016; relevant Auditing
Standards and applicable Practice Notes issued by the Financial Reporting
Council; relevant legislation; and other guidance issued by Audit Scotland.

We are responsible for conducting an audit of the financial statements of the
College and provide an opinion on the financial statements as to:

• whether they give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of the College
as at 31 July 2021 and the deficit for the year then ended;

• whether they have been properly prepared in accordance with United
Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; and

• whether they have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of
the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992 and directions made
thereunder by the Scottish Funding Council, the Charities and Trustee
Investment (Scotland) Act 2005, and regulation 14 of The Charities
Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006 (as amended).

Our findings are summarised in Section 2 of this report.
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Wider Scope audit

Our responsibilities extend beyond the audit of the financial statements. The
Code requires auditors to provide judgements and conclusions on the two
dimensions of wider scope public audit set out in the Code which comprise the
wider scope audit for small public sector bodies in Scotland. These are
financial sustainability and governance and transparency. We outlined in our
Annual Audit Plan that, given the impact of Covid-19 and associated risks
around robust financial management, we would consider this dimension as
part of our work in 2020/21.

Our findings are summarised in Section 3 of this report.

Outstanding audit matters

While our audit work is materially complete, we note the following areas of
outstanding work at the time of drafting of this report which require
satisfactory completion before we can finalise our work and issue our audit
opinion on the College’s financial statements:

• Completion of work in relation to the College’s share of the LGPS pension
liability, including updated financial statements for required audit
adjustments, and confirmations from pension fund auditors.

• Completion of work in relation to going concern.

• Finalisation of audit manager and partner review of all work and
documentation.

• Completion of subsequent events inquires and audit work through to the
date of approval of the financial statements.

• Receipt of the signed letter of representation and signed financial
statements.
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Financial Statements audit
Introduction

The financial statements provide the College with an opportunity to demonstrate
accountability for the resources that it controls, and report on its overall
performance in the application of those resources during the year.

This section of our report summarises the audit work undertaken to support our
audit opinion, including our conclusions in response to the significant and other
risks identified in our Annual Audit Plan.

The plan highlighted one area that we identified as a fraud risk relating to the
risk of fraud in revenue and expenditure recognition, including through
management override of controls.

Compliance with financial reporting requirements

As part of our oversight of the College’s financial reporting process, we report
on our consideration of the quality of working papers and supporting
documentation prepared, predominantly by the finance team, to support the
audit.

The financial statements were prepared in accordance with the Further and
Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992 and directions made thereunder issued by
the Scottish Funding Council, the Charities and Trustees Investment (Scotland)
Act and regulation 14 of The Charities Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2006
(as amended).

Management provided draft financial statements at the start of the audit, in line
with the agreed timetable. The financial statements had been updated for the
new requirements as outlined in the SFC’s 2020/21 Accounts Direction for
colleges.

Audit Outcomes

We identified eight unadjusted audit differences and two adjusted audit
difference arising from the audit which have been reflected within the financial
statements. The differences mainly related to the recognition of income in the
appropriate financial year and the valuation of fixed assets held on the balance
sheet. Our overall audit opinion is summarised on the following page.

Management provided
draft financial statements
and supporting working
papers in line with the
agreed timetable.
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Basis of our opinion
We report on the outcomes of our audit procedures to
respond to our assessed risk of misstatements, including
significant risks within this section of our report.  We did
not identify any areas of material misstatement.

We are satisfied that accounting policies are appropriate
and estimates are reasonable.

We have considered the financial statements against the
financial reporting requirements, and additional guidance
issued by the SFC and Audit Scotland.

Financial statements
The financial statements provide a
true and fair view of the state of
affairs of the College at 31 July
2021 and of the deficit for the year
then ended.

The financial statements are
prepared in accordance with the
financial reporting framework

[We intend to issue an
unqualified audit
opinion on the
2020/21 financial
statements for the
College.]

Conclusions

We conduct core financial statements audit work,
including management’s assessment of the
appropriateness of the going concern basis.

Wider scope procedures, including financial forecasts are
considered as part of our work on financial sustainability.

Going concern
We are required to conclude and
report on the appropriateness of the
use of the going concern basis of
accounting

[Pending completion
of our work outlined
on page 16, our audit
opinion is unqualified
in this respect.]

Element of opinion

We conduct a range of substantive procedures on the
financial statements.  Our conclusion draws upon:
• Review of committee minutes and papers, regular

discussions with management, our understanding of
the College and the sector.

Other information
We consider whether the other
information in the financial
statements is materially inconsistent
with other knowledge obtained
during the audit

We are satisfied that
the annual report
materially meets the
core requirements
set out in the
Accounts Direction.

Our procedures include:
• Understanding the applicable enactments and guidance

issued by the Scottish Ministers
• Performed detailed testing of income and expenditure

testing to ensure transactions are in line with
enactments and guidance

Report on regularity of income and
expenditure
We are required to consider whether
in all material respects the income
and expenditure in the financial
statements were incurred or applied
in accordance with any applicable
enactments and guidance issued by
Scottish Ministers

We are satisfied that
in all material
respects income and
expenditure are
regular.

Matters prescribed by the Auditor
General for Scotland
Audited part of Remuneration
Report has been properly prepared.

The Performance Report and Annual
Governance Statement are
consistent with the financial
statements and have been properly
prepared.

We are required to report on whether the sections of the
Remuneration and Staff Report, and Accountability
Report  have been properly prepared in accordance with
the Further and Higher Education (Scotland) Act 1992
and directions made thereunder by the Scottish Funding
Council.

We have no matters
to report.

Matters on which we are required to
report by exception

We are required to report on whether:

• adequate accounting records have not been kept; or
• the financial statements and the audited part of the

Remuneration and Staff Report are  not in agreement
with the accounting records; or

• we have not received all the information and
explanations we require for our audit

We have no matters
to report.
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Risk of Fraud in expenditure recognition

As we outlined in our Annual Audit Plan, ISA (UK) 240 requires us to assume
that fraud risk from income recognition is a significant risk.  In the public sector,
we extend our consideration to the risk of material misstatement by
manipulation of expenditure.

As outlined in our audit planning report, we rebut the risk of improper
recognition of Scottish Funding Council (“SFC”) core grant funding because
there is no judgement in respect of this income stream. With regards to
expenditure, we rebut the risk of improper recognition of payroll expenditure.

Specific procedures relating to significant risks

We undertake specific, additional procedures over income and expenditure
streams where we identified a significant risk, including:

• Review and test all relevant income and expenditure policies against the
relevant accounting standards and SORP;

• Review, test and challenge management around any accounting estimates
on income and expenditure recognition for evidence of bias;

• Develop a testing strategy to test all material income and expenditure
streams;

• Test all material grant income with performance conditions to ensure income
is recognised correctly in line with the outlined requirements;

• Review and perform focused testing on income and expenditure around the
year end to ensure correct recognition around cut-off between financial
periods;

• Perform testing for any evidence of clawback of income where conditions for
entitlement have not been met;

• Review and develop a testing strategy for Covid-19 related income streams,
including furlough income and additional Covid-19 related grant income; and

• Assess and challenge manual adjustments or journal entries by management
around the year end for evidence of management bias and evaluation of
business rationale and evidence.

Our conclusions

• Our testing identified a number of misstatements relating to revenue and expenditure recognition,
as outlined in Appendix D to this report. These differences were immaterial individually and
cumulatively. The impact of the misstatements was varied with some adjustments increasing and
some reducing the College’s deficit, and as such we are comfortable there is not indication of
fraud in the preparation of the financial statements.

• We have assessed the treatment of Covid-19 related income streams, including furlough income
and additional Covid-19 related grant income. We concur with management’s accounting
treatment for the new revenue streams.
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Risk of management override

Our Annual Audit Plan recognises that under ISA (UK) 240, management is
considered to be in a unique position to perpetrate fraud in financial reporting
because of its ability to manipulate accounting records directly or indirectly by
overriding controls that otherwise appear to be operating effectively. We
respond to this risk on every engagement.

Risk of Fraud

We considered the risk of fraud, enquired with management about their
assessment of the risks of fraud and the controls to address those risks. We
also updated and developed our understanding of the oversight of those
charged with governance over management’s processes over fraud.

Testing on Journal Entries

We tested the appropriateness of manual journal entries recorded in the
general ledger and other adjustments made in the preparation of the financial
statements.

We obtained a full list of journals posted to the general ledger during the year,
and used our bespoke data analysers to identify potentially unusual journals
based on posting patterns, amounts or areas of greater risk of judgement or
incentive for management to adjust according to our identified risk areas for
the audit. We evaluated the business rationale for any significant unusual
transactions. In particular we considered:

• Journal entries made directly into the general ledger of a material nature to
key accounts which are considered more likely to have an incentive to be
manipulated;

• Journals entries made around year end; and

• Journals adjusting between income and expenditure accounts and capital
accounts.

We identified no unusual journals which could not be explained by management
or which indicated any additional risk of fraud.

Our conclusions

• We have not identified any material weaknesses in the design and implementation of controls
around journal processing. We did not identify any instances of evidence of management override
of controls.

• There was no disagreement during the course of the audit over any accounting treatment or
disclosure and we encountered no significant difficulties in the audit.

12/38 82/108



North Highland College Annual Audit Report 2020/2113

Judgements and Estimates

ISA (UK) 540 on accounting estimates was issued in December 2019 and is
applicable to the 2020/21 audit for the first time. In particular, risk factors
relevant to the public sector included the following examples for consideration
by auditors:

• a very high degree of estimation uncertainty caused by the need to project
forecasts far into the future, such as liabilities relating to defined benefit
pension schemes (outlined on page 14 of this report); and

• areas where there may be a lack of available comparators for estimates that
are unique to the public sector, such as the valuation of important public
assets  (such as property, plant and equipment, outlined on page 15 of this
report).

Our procedures included:

• Testing management’s process method, key assumptions, data;

• Testing management’s process-estimation uncertainty;

• Considering evidence from events up to the report date; and

• Developing our own point estimate of the appropriate valuation.

We reviewed each significant accounting estimate for evidence of management
bias as outlined above, including retrospective consideration of management’s
prior year estimates.

Management disclosed its assessment of the critical accounting judgements
and key estimates in the financial statements.

Accounting Policies

We considered the consistency and application of accounting policies, and the
overall presentation of financial information. We consider the accounting
policies adopted by the College to be appropriate. There were no significant
accounting practices which materially depart from what is acceptable under the
Further and Higher Education SORP 2019.

Our conclusions

• We did not identify any areas of significant estimation or judgement as part of our audit work
where we disagreed with management over the accounting treatment.

• There were no significant accounting practices which materially depart from what is acceptable
under the College’s financial reporting framework.
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Valuation of net pension liabilities

The College participates in two pension schemes: the Local Government
Pension Scheme (Highland Council Pension Fund) and the Scottish Teachers
Superannuation Scheme (STSS). At 31 July 2021, the College’s share of the
pension scheme net liability totalled £9.832 million (2019/20: £11.620
million) and the present value of the unfunded obligation in relation to early
retirements agreed in previous years was £0.619 million (2019/20: £0.643
million). Accounting for this scheme involves significant estimation and
judgement and therefore management engages an actuary to undertake the
calculations on their behalf. The information disclosed is based on the FRS 102
report issued to the College by the actuary. ISAs (UK and Ireland) 500 and 540
require us to undertake procedures on the use of management experts and the
assumptions underlying fair value estimates.

Our approach included:
• obtaining an actuarial report at the year end date for the scheme and

considering the reasonableness and consistency of actuarial assumptions
underpinning such reports in conjunction with our internal specialists;

• performing substantive testing on the verification of the pension assets.
Specifically, we engage with the auditors of Highland Council Pension Fund
in line with the assurance protocols laid out by Audit Scotland for IAS 19
and FRS 102. We also analysed the fund’s estimated asset position at 31
July 2021 from both its financial yearend position at 31 March 2021 and
the prior year end for the College of 31 July 2020 against expectations
based on equity and other market movements in that time period;

• developing our own point estimate for the College’s liabilities in the Fund
and comparing to the actuary’s assessment;

• assessing the work of the actuaries in considering the impact of legal rulings
impacting the liabilities in the fund; and

• reviewing the calculation of the College’s valuation of future early
retirement liabilities at 31 July 2021, including the integrity of the
underlying pensioner data used by the actuary and College.

Our conclusions

• In calculating the scheme assets as at 31 July 2021 the actuary performs a roll forward technique
using investment returns and cash flow data since the last triennial valuation. We have outlined in
Appendix D an audit adjustment in relation to valuation of the College’s share of the Highland Pension
Fund asset position at the College’s balance sheet date. This relates to where the Fund’s actuaries use
estimates for yearend asset valuations, which are subsequently updated for actual investment returns
if the difference is material post yearend.

• We have assessed the reasonableness of the calculation of the College’s share of the Fund’s liabilities
and concluded these are consistent with our expectations.

• Assumptions used by the actuary and adopted by the College are considered to be generally
acceptable. The sensitivities surrounding these assumptions have been correctly disclosed in the
notes to the financial statements.

Other Inherent Risk Areas

Our Annual Audit Plan highlighted additional areas of inherent risk.  We
identified no further areas of risk as part of our audit procedures.  The results
of our procedures on inherent risk areas are summarised below.
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Inherent Risk – Valuation of Property, Plant & Equipment

Given the size of this balance and the number of assumptions that are made in
the valuation of the College estate, we assign a higher inherent risk to
property, plant and equipment. In 2020 we reported that the Royal Institute of
Chartered Surveyors (RICS) issued guidance highlighting that the uncertain
impact of Covid-19 on markets may cause valuers to conclude that there is a
material uncertainty in the valuation of assets at 31 July 2020. While this
guidance was subsequently removed by 31 July 2021, there was a materially
increased uncertainty around the valuation of assets in the current
environment.

The College obtained a desktop update for the indexation uplift of its estate in
the year. Management has also sought to continue its efforts to dispose of its
two assets held for sale in the 2021 financial statements, being Wick College
and Ross House.

Our approach focused on:

• analysis of the valuation of the College’s estate, including consideration of
the source data used in the indexation update process, assessment of the
reasonableness of the assumptions and methods used in the valuation,
consideration of the appropriateness of the timing of when the specialist
carried out the work, and assessment of whether the substance of the
specialist’s findings are properly reflected in the financial statements;

• assessment of the potential for impairment across the College estate that
has not been reflected in the financial statements or most recent formal
valuation;

• agreement of assets held for sale valuation to third party correspondence;
and

• consideration of the appropriateness of disclosures made by the College in
the financial statements in respect to potential valuation uncertainties at
31 July 2021.

Our conclusions

• We concluded that there was one material audit difference in the approach and conclusions
around management’s valuation of the College’s estate at 31 July 2021. Management chose to
not adjust for this finding, however due to it being an uplift in valuation we are comfortable
with their position. See Appendix D for further detail.

• We have agreed the valuation of Ross House at the yearend as being sufficiently supported by
evidence of a potential sale at a higher level than the value the asset is held. We note that
since the approval of the draft financial statements the sale has been completed.

• In prior year we had obtained support for the valuation of Wick College. However, since then
the College has had minimal market interest for the property which indicated a viable sale. As
such, we have agreed with management to impair the asset down to nil. See Appendix D for
further detail.

• We concluded that all material uncertainties in respect of the valuation of assets were
appropriately disclosed in the financial statements.

15/38 85/108



North Highland College Annual Audit Report 2020/2116

In accordance with the FReM, the College shall prepare its financial statements
on a going concern basis unless informed by the relevant national body of the
intention for dissolution without transfer of services or function to another
entity. However, International Auditing Standard 570 Going Concern, as
applied by Practice Note 10: Audit of financial statements of public sector
bodies in the United Kingdom, still require auditors to undertake sufficient and
appropriate audit procedures to consider whether there is a material
uncertainty on going concern that requires reporting by management within
the financial statements, and within the auditor’s report.

Covid-19 has created a number of financial pressures throughout the public
sector, including further education. Uncertainty remains about the level of
financial support that may become available from the SFC to reflect the
financial consequences of Covid-19. As a result, the SFC’s 2020/21 Accounts
Direction requires an explanation of the adoption of the going concern basis
and mitigating actions taken as a result of Covid-19 to be included as part of
the going concern commentary within the College’s financial statements, both
in the Performance Overview and Annual Governance Statement.

Management’s going concern assessment and associated disclosures cover the
period to 31 July 2023 with the cashflow forecast based on the financial
forecast return submitted to the Scottish Funding Council in October 2021.

After completing its going concern assessment in line with the information and
support provided through the earlier discussions in the audit process, the
College has concluded that there are no material uncertainties around its going
concern status. We have outlined our consideration of the College’s financial
position going forward in the financial sustainability section of this report. We
considered this in conjunction with management’s assessment on going
concern, focusing on:

• the completeness of factors considered in management’s going concern
assessment;

• the integrity and robustness of the underlying cash flow forecasts
supporting future financial projections, in particular if the College projects
to require financial support during the going concern assessment period;
and

• the completeness of disclosures in the financial statements in relation to
going concern and future financial performance in line with the
requirements of the SFC 2020/21 Accounts Direction.

Our conclusions

• Due to the timing of receiving Management’s assessment of going concern we have not completed
our work around this area and will provide a verbal update if any issues arise.

Going concern

The rationale for going
concern remains the
same, but we continue to
place increased focus on
management’s assertion
of going concern and
disclosures relating to
financial sustainability as
a result of the uncertainty
and unprecedented
budget pressures caused
by Covid-19.
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Wider Scope dimensions

Introduction

Under Audit Scotland’s Code of Audit Practice (May 2016), we are required to
reach conclusions in relation to the effectiveness and appropriateness of the
College’s arrangements for each of the wider scope audit dimensions.  We apply
our professional judgement to risk assess and focus our work on each of the
dimensions.

The Wider Scope dimensions

Financial Management:

• Considers the effectiveness of financial management arrangements, including
whether there is sufficient financial capacity and resources, sound budgetary
processes and whether the control environment and internal controls are
operating effectively. This dimension of wider scope work is not usually
applicable to smaller bodies, however due to the increased risk around
financial management at the College in the circumstances this year we have
made the judgement to consider as part of our audit process.

Financial Sustainability:

• Considers the medium and longer term outlook to determine if planning is
effective to support service delivery. This will focus on the arrangements to
develop viable and sustainable financial plans.

Governance and Transparency:

• Is concerned with the effectiveness of scrutiny and governance
arrangements, leadership and decision making, and transparent reporting of
financial and performance information.

We outlined in our Annual Audit Plan, presented to the Audit Committee in May
2021, how our consideration and audit work in respect of the wider scope
dimensions would be impacted by Covid-19 this year. Our areas of audit focus in
these areas have therefore been undertaken through the lens of Covid-19.
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The context for financial sustainability in the College sector

In June 2020, Scottish Ministers asked the Scottish Funding Council (SFC) to
review how they could best fulfil their mission of securing coherent, good
quality, sustainable tertiary education and research in these changing times.
This review has been conducted over three phases with the final phase
published in June 2021.

In October 2021, the Scottish Government published their response to the
review’s recommendations, with the recommendations being broadly accepted.
The Scottish Government recognises that some recommendations will require
further development for consultation. In some instances, the pace, scale and
timing of implementation will be determined by wider spending and resource
considerations. Of particular note in respect of financial sustainability is that
the Cabinet Secretary for Finance and the Economy has confirmed her plans to
publish a multi-year resource spending review framework for public
consultation alongside Budget 2022-23 and the Medium Term Financial
Strategy.

As part of the phase 3 publication, the SFC published their updated review of
‘Coherence and Sustainability: Financial Sustainability of Colleges and
Universities’. The report presented an aggregate review of the financial health
of Scottish institutions based on 2019-20 published financial statements and
the latest forecasts for 2020-21.

Improvement in the sector’s underlying operating position was achieved in
2019-20 with a small surplus achieved which was significantly improved from
the original deficit forecast. A similar position is currently forecast for 2020-21
with the impact of Covid-19 not considered to be as severe as anticipated. Non-
recurring funding was made available which has helped stabilise the sector’s
finances, however challenges remain in future years.

The financial environment in which the College operates was already
challenging, and the Covid-19 pandemic has resulted in further,
significant financial pressures, and creates a risk that the College will not
be able to develop viable and sustainable financial plans due to external
factors. While additional funding was awarded during 2020/21 which
helped ease immediate pressures, the future outlook remains unclear.

The College submitted a financial forecast return in October 2021 to the
Scottish Funding Council which outlines a cumulative underlying
operating deficit position over the three years including a forecast deficit
of £0.216 million for 2021/22. This demonstrates the tight financial
operating position that the College faces in an ever-changing external
environment.
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The SFC has recognised a number of key risk areas that could adversely impact
colleges’ financial performance and sustainability including:

• Maintaining short-term liquidity;
• Continued impact of the Covid-19 pandemic and the potential consequential

failure to achieve income targets;
• Impact of cost efficiencies on both quality of student experience and on the

health and wellbeing of college staff;
• Future arrangements for funding Foundation Apprenticeships;
• Additional staff costs arising from both cost of living pay awards, the

outcome of the national bargaining job evaluation exercise for support staff
and increases employer pension contributions; and

• Challenges of diversifying income and generating additional surplus.
Medium term financial forecasting

The College has prepared a three-year financial forecast for the period 2021 to
2024 and submitted these to the SFC in the form of the template Financial
Forecast Return (‘FFR’). The forecast is based on assumptions provided by the
SFC in addition to College specific assumptions for areas such as other income
and staff numbers. The assumptions have been discussed with the Principal
and Chair of Finance Committee and will be subject to scrutiny by the College’s
Finance, Commercial and Estates Committee. As Exhibit 1 demonstrates, this
analysis forecasts a small underlying operating deficit for the three years of
the plan.

Exhibit 1: The College’s FFR highlights that the College is forecasting
an underlying deficit for the 3-year period to 2023/24. An accounting
deficit is also forecast for the same period.

-350

-250

-150

-50
2021/22 2022/23 2023/24

Accounting deficit (£) Underlying deficit (£)

Source: North Highland College Financial Forecast Return, October 2021
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The College’s forecasts recognise significant uncertainty in the current
environment. The main risks associated with the forecast income and
expenditure in the financial forecast return are:

• The effect of Covid 19 on job vacancies in the Highlands and declining
school demographics in the next few years mean Credit targets may be a
challenge.

• Sustaining non-SFC income in a Covid 19 or semi-Covid 19 environment.
• The age and condition of some of the College estate is a concern. The

College invested more monies into estate maintenance in 2020/21.
However sustaining this longer term with current funding is a challenge.

• The Board has agreed in principle to progress towards a merger with Lews
Castle College and West Highland College. We have considered this on page
26.

See recommendation 1 in Appendix E for further detail.

Going concern cash flow forecasting

We have outlined our work in respect of going concern on page 16 of this
report. While the College has prepared its financial statements on a going
concern basis as required by the FReM for a public body, it is required to
consider its ability to meet liabilities as they fall due over the going concern
assessment period to July 2023 being the next year end date which is greater
than 12 months from the approval date for the financial statements.

As part of its financial forecasting arrangements the College has forecast its
cash flow during this period, including testing a number of sensitivities which
may be impacted by the current uncertainty around the 2021/22 and
2022/23 academic years as a result of Covid-19. As part of the FFR
submission, the College has projected cashflows to 31 July 2023 with a closing
balance of £0.561 million.

The College’s cash flow forecasts demonstrates it has headroom of £270k at
the lowest point in its going concern assessment period. It has considered the
impact of the following stresses on cash flow during the period:
1. A shortfall of 10 students in 2021-22, and on target for 2022-23.
2. Assumes no clawback of FE funding in 2021-22.
3. Projecting a 500 credit shortfall, noted as a sector wide issue.
On this basis, management has concluded that there is no plausible scenario
where the College will require financial support to meet its liabilities during the
going concern assessment period.
See recommendation 6 in Appendix E for further detail.
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Financial performance and monitoring

The College reported a deficit of £0.652 million for the year (2019/20:
£0.957 million). Following an actuarial gain of £2.92 million and a revaluation
gain of £0.05 million, the College reported total comprehensive income of
£2.318 million (2019/20: £5.017 million expenditure). The College had an
operating surplus after removal of non-cash accounting adjustments (relating
to pension and capital accounting) of £0.614 million (2019/20: £0.045
million).

2020/21 was the first full financial year that the College had fully operated in
the context of Covid-19 and the financial performance in 2020/21 was
significantly impacted by this. Despite the challenges that this brought, the
College was able to improve their operating deficit largely due to additional
SFC funding of £0.230 million.

In line with previous years, the College’s financial performance was monitored
throughout the year by management and the Finance and Audit committees.
This process was not impacted by Covid-19, and there is evidence of financial
monitoring, reporting and planning by the Board and Finance and Audit
committees through the financial year, up to the approval of the 2021/22
budget.

Throughout 2020/21 management reported budget pressures and variances
through its management accounting. These were significant in the year,
however we are satisfied these related to the impact of Covid-19 on College
operations and additional funding awarded late in the financial year.

The College reported an adjusted operating surplus of £0.614 million,
representing an increase of £0.569 million compared to 2019/20. We
were satisfied that the College’s financial monitoring and reporting was
clear and consistent throughout the year.

The College has an established budget setting and monitoring framework
which includes presentation of financial updates to the Board and
Finance and Audit committees throughout the year. We are satisfied that
the core financial management arrangements were not materially
impacted as a result of Covid-19 and the subsequent lockdowns with
clear financial reporting continuing throughout the year.
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Impact of Covid-19 on systems of internal control

Within the Annual Governance Statement, the College has concluded that they
have obtained assurance that the system of internal control was operating
effectively during the year with no exceptions or issues identified. Through our
audit of the financial statements, we consider the design and implementation of
key controls related to areas of significant risk to the financial statements. This
work has included documenting the key internal financial controls and
performing walkthroughs to ensure controls are implemented as designed.

We undertook an initial assessment of the financial control environment as part
of our planning work in May 2021, and updated our understanding as part of
the yearend audit. Our work has not identified any significant weaknesses in the
College’s systems of internal control. In particular, we have not identified any
significant changes to the design and implementation of controls as a result of
the impact of Covid-19 on working arrangements.

Joint finance working arrangements and management capacity

During the prior year management made us aware of new joint working
arrangement in place with Inverness College, in particular the shared
responsibility for the Director of Finance role across both colleges. We
discussed the potential impact this may have on management’s capacity at the
College. We noted that some mitigating actions had been put in place to reduce
pressure on the Director of Finance in other areas of responsibility, and that the
decision had been subject to clear governance review arrangements.

We have not noted any material change in the capacity or capability of
management to perform their function through the audit process this year. It is
important that, particularly in the context of the additional pressures placed on
management during the ongoing Covid-19 period, this arrangement is subject
to ongoing review to ensure it does not impact the College’s financial
management arrangements.

See recommendation 5 in Appendix E for further detail.

National Fraud Initiative (NFI)

NFI is a counter-fraud exercise co-ordinated by Audit Scotland and overseen by
the Cabinet Office to identify fraud and error. The NFI exercise produces data
matches by comparing a range of information held on public bodies’ systems to
identify potential fraud or error.

The College received matches for investigation in January 2021 and results of
the investigation will be recorded on the NFI system. We noted progress
continued to be made by the College and that we had no matters to report.

See recommendation 4 in Appendix E for further detail.
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Annual Governance Statement

The College has demonstrated through the year that it has the key requirements
for good governance. The key aspects of governance arrangements in the year
are required to be disclosed in the College’s Annual Governance Statement
within the financial statements. We reviewed the governance statement within
the financial statements against the requirements outlined in the SFC’s 2020/21
Accounts Direction and our understanding of governance arrangements in place
up to 31 July 2021.

This includes the requirements to conclude on the College’s compliance with the
2016 Code of Good Governance for Scotland’s Colleges, or to explain any areas
of non-compliance.  Our consideration of the governance statement has
included:

• Ensuring that the College has met all requirements of the SFC’s 2020/21
Accounts Direction;

• Ensuring that the content of the statement is consistent with our
understanding of the College’s governance arrangements and any issues
identified during the year; and

• Ensuring that the College has performed a self-assessment of compliance with
the Code of Good Governance for Scotland’s Colleges and that this
assessment is reflected in the statement.

See recommendation 2 in Appendix E for further detail.

We reviewed the Annual Governance Statement against the required guidance
and we were satisfied that it was consistent with both the governance
framework, key findings from relevant audit activity and management’s
assessment of its own compliance with the Code of Good Governance for
Scotland’s Colleges.

The governance statement included an appropriate level of detail on how
governance arrangements were maintained during the revised operating period,
as a result of Covid-19.

The key features of good governance have remained in place at the
College and have been operating effectively throughout the Covid-19
lockdowns. The College responded quickly to ensure that governance
arrangements were appropriate and operating effectively. The College
intends to implement a hybrid meeting structure moving forward, after
seeking the views of members.

We have noted in Appendix E progress has been made against our audit
recommendation with some remaining ongoing.
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Covid-19 Governance Arrangements

Like all other public bodies in Scotland, the College moved to revised
governance arrangements at the beginning of the UK lockdown period. Since
March 2020, all Board and committee meetings have continued as scheduled
via remote working arrangements, and all relevant business continued to be
considered as required.

As restrictions started to ease, in May 2021, the College conducted a survey
of Board Members to determine how meetings should continue to operate.
Based on the results, the College intends to operate a hybrid model with
committee meetings likely to remain remote but Board, Strategy and
Development meetings being in person.

Enquiries of those charged with governance

In line with previous years, we formally wrote to the Chair of the Audit
Committee to make inquiries around the College’s governance arrangements,
including consideration by those charged with governance in respect of
compliance with laws and regulations; identification of fraud, error and
breaches of internal control; and material litigation and claims. No matters
were brought to our attention.

Internal audit’s opinion for the year was based on its agreed audit plan for
the year, as approved by the Audit and Risk Committee.  For 2020/21, the
internal auditor’s opinion notes that, ‘In our opinion North Highland College
did have adequate and effective risk management, control and governance
processes to manage its achievement of the College’s objectives at the time
of our audit work.’
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External effectiveness review

All colleges are required to undertake an external effectiveness review (EER)
at least every 3 years, in accordance with the Code of Good Governance for
Scotland’s Colleges.  The College’s external effectiveness review took place
throughout March and April 2021 with a number of positive aspects
identified. An action plan was drawn up which Senior Management continue to
work towards implementing. Key aspects to note are:

• Following approval of the new Strategic Plan in October 20201 and the
formulation of new KPIs, achievement of KPIs will be a regular item on the

�agenda of each Board meeting. In line with the new strategic plan re-
engage with key stakeholders and resurrect invites to board meetings.

• An Annual workplan for the board and committees should be introduced
which would allow members to understand and prepare for the annual
cycle of business. Progress against the workplan should reviewed mid-year
and this review should be included as part of the workplan.

• Board and Committee papers would benefit from a more strategic focus
and standard format with a clearer structure.

• During the period of virtual meetings consider taking written questions
from members, via the board secretary, in advance of the meeting to allow
college staff to prepare answers.

• Two new students members are required and should be fully inducted
alongside the new board members.

• It has been agreed that the student report should be moved up the board
agenda to be the first report that the board considers.

• The 2021 board self-evaluation should be undertaken in the latter part of
the year.

See recommendation 3 in Appendix E for further detail.

EU withdrawal

There continues to be a significant interest in public bodies’ response to risks
arising and the impact from EU withdrawal. Management has continued to
consider and monitor the arrangements and risks around the UK’s departure
from the EU. The College is aware that there continues to be a potential for
disruption to operations and costs arising from Brexit and continues to review
any new information and guidance provided by bodies such as Scottish
Government and the SFC as it is published. Management is confident at this
stage that the College is mitigated from the immediate direct impacts of EU
withdrawal on its operations and funding.
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UHI Cyber Incident

The UHI partnership suffered a Cyber Incident in March 2021. Many other
colleges and universities in the UK were also affected during the past 24
months, and this had a serious effect, with many of the main IT systems being
temporarily unavailable.  Whilst main services were restored as efficiently as
possible, staff had to move to cloud storage, as opposed to maintaining files
on network drives, and this caused major disruption to the College for the
remainder of the academic year.

Overall, we have seen a minor impact on the financial statement audit. We
noted that due to the use of the cloud storage this has caused delays in staff’s
accessibility to information and some information was lost in the transfer.
Where evidence had been missing other sources of support were provided
enabling us to conclude on our testing. We note that continues to add
pressure to the College finance team.

Merger with West Highland College and Lews Castle College

During the audit process we became aware of a potential merger between
North Highland, West Highland and Lews Castle colleges expected to vest in
January 2023. The Principals of each of the colleges have identified
similarities between the colleges which could create efficiencies if they were
to operate under one institutions.

A project board has been set up with representatives from all colleges and the
Scottish Funding Council.  This board meet monthly and are in the current
progress of submitting a proposal for financial backing for the project. They
are looking to progress eight work streams starting in November 2021 which
will look at the overall governance of the new institution and the
harmonisation of terms & conditions for staff. A full consultation will be
undertaken with external stakeholders.

We note that there will be no changes expected at present to the overall
services provided by the individual colleges and that the intention is that all
courses will be absorbed by the new institutions. As such, we are comfortable
that this does impact on the College’s ability to continue as a going concern to
July 2023.
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A – Code of Audit Practice: responsibilities

B – Independence and audit quality

C – Required communications with the audit and risk committee

D – Adjusted and unadjusted errors identified during the audit

E – Prior Year Action Plan

F - Timing and deliverables of the audit
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Each body, through its chief executive or accountable officer, is responsible for
establishing arrangements to ensure the proper conduct of its affairs including the
legality of activities and transactions, and for monitoring the adequacy and
effectiveness of these arrangements. Audited bodies should involve those charged
with governance (including audit, risk and governance committees or equivalent) in
monitoring these arrangements.

Audited Body’s Responsibilities

Corporate Governance

Audited bodies must prepare an annual report and accounts containing financial
statements and other related reports. They have responsibility for:

• preparing financial statements which give a true and fair view of their financial
position and their expenditure and income, in accordance with the applicable
financial reporting framework and relevant legislation.

• maintaining accounting records and working papers that have been prepared to an
acceptable professional standard and support their financial statements and related
reports disclosures.

• ensuring the regularity of transactions, by putting in place systems of internal
control to ensure that they are in accordance with the appropriate authority.

• maintaining proper accounting records.
• preparing and publishing, along with their financial statements, an annual

governance statement, management commentary (or equivalent) and a
remuneration report that are consistent with the disclosures made in the financial
statements. Management commentary should be fair, balanced and understandable
and also clearly address the longer-term financial sustainability of the body.

• Management, with the oversight of those charged with governance, should
communicate clearly and concisely relevant information to users about the entity
and its financial performance, including providing adequate disclosures in
accordance with the applicable financial reporting framework.

Audited bodies are responsible for developing and implementing effective systems of
internal control as well as financial, operational and compliance controls. These
systems should support the achievement of their objectives and safeguard and secure
value for money from the public funds at their disposal. They are also responsible for
establishing effective and appropriate internal audit and risk-management functions.

Financial Statements and
related reports

Audited bodies are responsible for establishing arrangements for the prevention and
detection of fraud, error and irregularities, bribery and corruption and also to ensure
that their affairs are managed in accordance with proper standards of conduct by
putting proper arrangements in place.

Standards of conduct /
prevention and detection of
fraud and error

Audited bodies are responsible for putting in place proper arrangements to ensure that
their financial position is soundly based having regard to:

• such financial monitoring and reporting arrangements as may be specified
• compliance with any statutory financial requirements and achievement of financial

targets
• balances and reserves, including strategies about levels and their future use
• how they plan to deal with uncertainty in the medium and longer term
• the impact of planned future policies and foreseeable developments on their

financial position.

Standards of conduct /
prevention and detection of
fraud and error

The Scottish Public Finance Manual sets out that accountable officers appointed by the
Principal Accountable Officer for the Scottish Administration have a specific
responsibility to ensure that arrangements have been made to secure best value.

Best Value
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The FRC Ethical Standard requires that we provide details of all relationships
between Ernst & Young (EY), its directors and senior management and
affiliates, and you, including all services provided by us and our network to
you, and other services provided to other known connected parties that we
consider may reasonably be thought to bear on our integrity or objectivity,
including those that could compromise independence and the related
safeguards that are in place and why they address the threats.

There are no relationships from 1 August 2019 to the date of this report,
which we consider may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence
and objectivity.

Professional ethical standards, and the Terms of our Appointment, require us
to communicate all significant facts and matters that have a bearing on EY’s
objectivity and independence as auditor of the College.

Matters that we are
required to communicate

Audit Fees

We are not aware of any inconsistencies between the College’s policy for the
supply of non audit services and FRC Ethical Standard. We are not aware of
any apparent breach of that policy.

We confirm that, in our professional judgment, Ernst & Young is independent,
our integrity and objectivity is not compromised and we have complied with
the FRC Ethical Standard.

We confirm that your engagement team (partners, senior managers and
managers and all others involved with the audit) and others within the firm,
the firm and network firms have complied with relevant ethical requirements
regarding independence.

Confirmations

The expected fee for each body is set centrally by Audit Scotland, and assumes that it has sound governance
arrangements in place and operating effectively throughout the year, prepares comprehensive and accurate
draft financial statements and supporting schedules, and meets the agreed timetable for the audit. It also
assumes there is no major change in respect of the scope of work in the year and an unqualified audit opinion
resulting from the audit.

The fee variation of £8,400 reflects our additional work which was required around the College’s financial
sustainability risk, the additional work from inclusion of the financial management wider scope dimension, the
follow up work required from a number of outstanding areas of focus in prior years, and the requirement to
reduce materiality on our audit testing.

2020/21 2019/20

Component of fee:

Auditor remuneration – expected fee £15,600 £15,150

Additional audit procedures (see below) £8,400 £8,900

Audit Scotland fixed charges:

Pooled costs £1,010 £870

Contribution to Audit Scotland costs £660 £830

Total fee £25,670 £25,750
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International Standard on Quality Control (UK and Ireland) 1 (ISQC1) requires
that a system of quality control is established, as part of financial audit
procedures, to provide reasonable assurance that professional standards and
regulatory and legal requirements are being complied with and that the
independent auditor’s report or opinion is appropriate in the circumstances.

The EY 2021 UK Transparency Report can be accessed on our website at
https://www.ey.com/en_uk/who-we-are/transparency-report-2021. This
material is published to provide a timely and relevant source of information
about EY in general, and our audit business in particular.  This includes our
inaugural Audit Quality Report.

The disclosures are extensive. For example, they explain our outlook and how
we are structured and governed, including the role of our Independent Non-
Executives and how we apply the requirements of the UK’s Audit Firm
Governance Code. We refer to the quality of our audits and our commitment to
recruiting, developing and diversifying our people and talent pool. We also
explain how we manage our risks and remain innovative and technologically
advanced in what we do and how we do it.

Maintaining high audit quality across all of our engagements is of paramount
importance to us. Our transformational Audit Quality Programme continues
and is a part of the global EY Sustainable Audit Quality Programme (SAQ).

Our Audit Quality Board (AQB) continues to oversee all matters relating to
audit quality and sets the agenda for the Audit Quality programme. The AQB
meets monthly and also holds an annual strategy session. The AQB reports to
the EY UK Board. The AQB receives regular updates on regulatory matters,
results of internal and external reviews, results of root cause analysis,
resourcing, the SAQ programme and pursuit approvals, as well as a
comprehensive dashboard on quality measures.

Our Audit Quality Support Team (AQST), which started within the SAQ
programme, reviews 40 to 50 audits each audit cycle providing challenge and
guidance to the engagement teams. These are in-depth reviews carried out by
experienced auditors independent of the audit team. AQST reviews enhance
the quality of both the audit under review and other audits on which team
members apply the lessons learned. The AQST has now become a business-as-
usual function.

Matters that we are required
to communicate

Audit Quality Framework /
Annual Audit Quality Report

Audit Scotland’s Appointments and Assurance Team are responsible for
applying the new Audit Quality Framework across all financial audits and
performance and Best Value audits. This covers the quality of audit work
undertaken by Audit Scotland staff and appointed firms. The team are
independent of audit delivery and provide assurance on audit quality to the
Auditor General and the Accounts Commission.

We support Audit Scotland in their commitment to reporting on audit quality
through responding to requests for information and providing the results of
internal quality reviews undertaken in respect of relevant public sector audits
in Scotland.

The most recent audit quality report which covers our work at the College since
appointment can be found at: https://www.audit-
scotland.gov.uk/report/quality-of-public-audit-in-scotland-annual-report-
202021
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Required communication Our reporting to you

Terms of engagement / Our responsibilities

Confirmation by the audit, risk and governance committee of acceptance of terms
of engagement as written in the engagement letter signed by both parties.

Our responsibilities are as set out in our engagement letter.

Audit Scotland Terms of
Appointment letter –
audit to be undertaken
in accordance with the
Code of Audit Practice

Planning and audit approach

Communication of the planned scope and timing of the audit, any limitations and
the significant risks identified.
When communicating key audit matters this includes the most significant risks of
material misstatement (whether or not due to fraud) including those that have the
greatest effect on the overall audit strategy, the allocation of resources in the
audit and directing the efforts of the engagement team.

Annual Audit Plan

Significant findings from the audit

• Our view about the significant qualitative aspects of accounting practices
including accounting policies, accounting estimates and financial statement
disclosures

• Significant difficulties, if any, encountered during the audit
• Significant matters, if any, arising from the audit that were discussed with

management
• Written representations that we are seeking
• Expected modifications to the audit report
• Other matters if any, significant to the oversight of the financial reporting

process

Annual Audit Plan

Annual Audit Report

Going concern

Events or conditions identified that may cast significant doubt on the entity’s
ability to continue as a going concern, including:
• Whether the events or conditions constitute a material uncertainty
• Whether the use of the going concern assumption is appropriate in the

preparation and presentation of the financial statements
• The adequacy of related disclosures in the financial statements

Annual Audit Report

Misstatements

• Uncorrected misstatements and their effect on our audit opinion, unless
prohibited by law or regulation

• The effect of uncorrected misstatements related to prior periods
• A request that any uncorrected misstatement be corrected
• Corrected misstatements that are significant
• Material misstatements corrected by management

Annual Audit Report

Fraud

• Enquiries of the audit, risk and governance committee to determine whether
they have knowledge of any actual, suspected or alleged fraud affecting the
entity

• Any fraud that we have identified or information we have obtained that
indicates that a fraud may exist

• A discussion of any other matters related to fraud

Annual Audit Report
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Required communication Our reporting to you

Consideration of laws and regulations

• Audit findings regarding non-compliance where the non-compliance is
material and believed to be intentional. This communication is subject to
compliance with legislation on tipping off

• Enquiry of the audit and risk committee into possible instances of non-
compliance with laws and regulations that may have a material effect on the
financial statements and that the Committee may be aware of

Annual Audit Report (to
be issued on completion
of audit work) or as
occurring if material.

Related parties

Significant matters arising during the audit in connection with the entity’s
related parties including, when applicable:
• Non-disclosure by management
• Inappropriate authorisation and approval of transactions
• Disagreement over disclosures
• Non-compliance with laws and regulations
• Difficulty in identifying the party that ultimately controls the entity

No significant matters
have been identified.

Independence

Communication of all significant facts and matters that bear on EY’s, and all
individuals involved in the audit, objectivity and independence
Communication of key elements of the audit engagement partner’s
consideration of independence and objectivity such as:
• The principal threats
• Safeguards adopted and their effectiveness
• An overall assessment of threats and safeguards
• Information about the general policies and process within the firm to

maintain objectivity and independence

Annual Audit Plan

Annual Audit Report –
Appendix B

Internal controls
Significant deficiencies in internal controls identified during the audit

Annual Audit Report – no
significant deficiencies
reported

Subsequent events
Where appropriate, asking the audit, risk and governance committee whether
any subsequent events have occurred that might affect the financial
statements.

We have asked
management and those
charged with
governance. We have no
matters to report.

Material inconsistencies
Material inconsistencies or misstatements of fact identified in other information
which management has refused to revise

Annual Audit Report

32/38 102/108



Appendix D: Errors identified
during the audit - Adjusted

This Appendix sets out the significant adjustments processed in the financial
statements finalisation.

North Highland College Annual Audit Report 2020/2133

Adjusted differences

No. Description Income and
Expenditure Impact

Other Comprehensive
Income and

Expenditure Impact
Balance Sheet Impact

1 Impairment of Wick
College

DR Revaluation
gains/losses

£100,000

CR Fixed Asset

(£100,000)

2 Adjustment relating to
pension scheme asset
valuation at 31 July
2021

Cr Actuarial
Gain/(Loss) in respect
of Pension Scheme

(£136,000)

Dr Pension Assets

£136,000
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Appendix D: Errors identified
during the audit - Unadjusted

This Appendix sets out the significant unadjusted audit differences identified
during the audit.
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Unadjusted differences

No. Description Income and
Expenditure Impact

Other Comprehensive
Income and

Expenditure Impact
Balance Sheet Impact

1 Revaluation indexation CR Revaluation
gains/losses

(£365,813)

DR Fixed Asset

£365,813

2 Under Accrual of
Brydon Cent PHD
Income

CR Income

(£10,798)

DR Accrued Income

£10,798

3 Overstatement of
Arena Monies Income

CR Income

(£6,968)

DR Deferred Income

£6,968

4 Overstatement of
Income due to Double
Counting of Sinclair

CR Income

(£8,762)

DR Deferred Income

£8,762

5 Overstatement ALF
Income

DR Income

£61,051

CR Deferred Income

(£61,05)

6 Understatement of
Annual Leave Accrual

DR Income

£15,000

CR Deferred Income

(£15,000)

7 Reclassification of
SITs Control A/C

DR Debtors

£36,550

CR Deferred Income

(£36,550)

8 Write off of debit
balances on the
creditors ledger

DR Expenditure

£14,418

CR Creditors

(£14,418)
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Appendix E: Action Plan, including an
update on prior year recommendations
This action plan summarises specific recommendations included within the 2020
North Highland College Annual Audit Report and the latest status in respect of
management’s agreed actions.
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Classification of recommendations

Grade 1: Key risks and / or
significant deficiencies which are
critical to the achievement of
strategic objectives. Consequently
management needs to address and
seek resolution urgently.

Grade 2: Risks or potential
weaknesses which impact on
individual objectives, or impact
the operation of a single
process, and so require prompt
but not immediate action by
management.

Grade 3: Less significant issues
and / or areas for improvement
which we consider merit
attention but do not require to
be prioritised by management.

No. Findings and
recommendation

Management response Management response /
Implementation timeframe

1 The College should continue
to regularly monitor its
forecast position, including
delivery of its required
savings, and its cash position
and future forecast.

The impact that staff cost
reductions and other savings
are having on operational and
strategic delivery should be
subject to ongoing review in
conjunction with UHI, as RSB,
and SFC.

Grade 1

Response: Monthly budget has
been undertaken throughout
the year and Executive Group
have been updated. Within the
funding parameters the college
has, especially poor rurality,
sustaining the college
financially continues to be a
challenge. The College is
currently exploring the option
of a merger with other colleges.

Responsible officer:
Principal/Director of Finance &
Corporate Services

Implementation date: ongoing
throughout 2021/21.

Action ongoing.

We have outlined our
consideration around the
College’s future financial
position and planning in respect
of this in more detail in the
financial sustainability section
of our wider scope reporting.
This will continue to be an area
of focus for the College going
forward.

Grade 1

2 We continue to recommend
that the College should
undertake an exercise to fully
update its assessment of
compliance with the Code of
Good Governance for
Scotland’s Colleges, drawing
on best practice and support
from UHI and partner colleges.

Grade 2

Response: A paragraph by
paragraph assessment was
carried out by the Board
Secretary with input from the
Principal and Director of
Learning & Teaching.

Responsible officer: Board
Secretary

Implementation date:
Completed

Action complete.

Full assessment undertaken
during 2020/21.

3 The College should seek to
finalise its implementation of
recommendations around its
previous assessment of Board
effectiveness as soon as
possible.

Grade 1

Response: A full review was
undertaken by On Board
Training And Consultancy Ltd in
2021. Management have
continued to work on the
implementation of the review
and recommendation. They
note it is an ongoing process
with regular review required.

Responsible officer:
Principal/Board Secretary

Implementation date: ongoing
throughout 2021/21.

Action ongoing.

We note that a subsequent
review has been undertaken in
May 2021 and as such a new
action plan is in place which
contains follow up from items in
the 2017 action plan.

We have outlined our
consideration against the 2021
review within this report on
page 25.

Grade 2
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No. Findings and
recommendation

Management response Management response /
Implementation timeframe

4 The College should ensure it
takes steps to participate in
full in future NFI exercises,
and ensures it considers the
outputs and
recommendations from this
year’s exercise to improve its
own internal control
arrangements.

Grade 2

Response: All matches from
the latest exercise have been
investigated and closed with
no further action necessary.
Finance Staff will be updating
the conflict of interest register
later this year.

Responsible officer: Director of
Finance & Corporate Services.

Implementation date: Ongoing
throughout 2021/22.

Action ongoing.

The action in respect to full
participation in the most recent
NFI exercise is closed.
However, we note that the
findings in respect to the
conflict of interest register are
still outstanding.

Grade 2

5 It is important that,
particularly in the context of
the additional pressures
placed on management
during this Covid-19 period,
the arrangement for Shared
Services with Inverness is
subject to ongoing review to
ensure it does not impact the
College’s financial
management arrangements.

Grade 2

Response: Efforts are being
made to progress the Finance
Team restructure. This has
been slower then anticipated
as a result of pressures
throughout the financial year
(including the cyber incident
and ongoing pandemic).

Responsible officer:
Chair/Principal/Director of
Finance and Corporates
Services

Implementation timeframe:
Throughout 2021/22

Action ongoing.

We note the pressures faced by
management during the
financial year. From the audit
process who had not noted any
concerns with the
arrangements in place but
continue to highlight the
importance of ongoing review.

Grade 2

6 Management should ensure
that its cash flow position
and forecast for at least the
next 12 months is subject to
rigorous review on a routine
basis.
Any uncertainty around the
College being able to support
itself should be reported to
the Regional Strategic Board
and Scottish Funding Council
to discuss support options.

Grade 2

Response: On-going revenue
monitoring is well established
as part of the College’s
financial management and the
Finance Committee is regularly
updated. On-going monitoring
of cash is undertaken in the
finance department, and
monthly cash flow projections
sent to SFC.

Responsible officer: Director of
Finance and Corporate
Services

Implementation timeframe:
Ongoing through 2021/22.

Action ongoing.

Given the forecasted deficit
highlighted in the most recent
financial forecast return it is
essential management
continue to monitor the cash
flow position going forward.

Grade 2

7 In our prior year report we
noted that management did
not initially prepare a formal
SORP impact assessment as
part of the 2019/20
financial statements
preparation process.
Management advised that
they did complete a review,
though this was not initially
documented.

Grade 3

Monitoring and implementing
changes to accounting
frameworks and related
SORPs, Directions and other
statutory guidance is a key
requirement of good financial
management.
Management should ensure
these matters are addressed
more formally going forward.

There were no significant
updates to the underlying
accounting or disclosure
frameworks in 2020/21. We
have reported on
management’s preparation of
the financial statements
through this report as
appropriate and have no
matters to raise.

Grade 3
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36

Audit Activity Deliverable Timing

• Walkthrough Visit Completion of internal
documentation June 2021

• Issue opinion on the College’s
financial statements

Submit Audit Scotland
minimum dataset request December 2021

Appendix F: Timing and
deliverables of the audit
We deliver our audit in accordance with the timeline set by the College, in
accordance with guidance from Audit Scotland. Below is a timetable
showing the key stages of the audit and the deliverables through the
2020/21 audit cycle.

North Highland College Annual Audit Report 2020/21

• Year-end substantive audit
fieldwork on unaudited
financial statements

Audited Financial
Statements October2021

• Audit planning and setting
scope and strategy for the
2020/21 audit

Annual Audit Plan May 2021

• Conclude on results of audit
procedures

Issue Annual Audit
Report December 2021

JAN

APR

MAY

JUN

SEP

OCT

NOV

DEC
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